1. INTERVIEWTO V. S SRINIVASA SASTRI

[SASSOON HOSPITAL,
POONA,
January 12, 1924]

... Dr. V. B. Gokhale came to me about 8-45 p.m. just as | was finishing my
dinner; he told me how the Y eravda authorities had removed Mr. Gandhi to the Sassoon
Hospital, where he was in charge. He was about to be operated for appendicitis.

... On my entering the room, we greeted each other and | enquired how he felt as
to the operation. He answered firmly that the doctors had come to a definite conclusion
and he was content to abide by it, and in reply to further inquiry, he said that he had full
confidence in the medical men about him and that they had been very kind and very
careful. Should there arise any public agitation, he added that it should be made known
that he had no complaint whatever to make against the authorities and that so far as the
care of his body went, their treatment left nothing to be desired. Then | enquired if Mrs.
Gandhi had been informed of his condition. He said that she did not know the latest
development, but she knew that for sometime he had not been well and he expected to
hear from her. He then made inquiries of my wife and of my colleagues in the Servants
of India Society, viz., Messrs Devadhar, Joshi, Patwardhan and Kunzru. He asked:

Have your frequent journeys out of India benefited your health?

Doctor Phatak then read a draft statement to be signed by Mr. Gandhi conveying
his consent to the operation. After hearing it once, Mr. Gandhi put on his spectacles
and read it himself. Then he said he would like the wording to be changed and asked
Col. Maddock who was in the room what he thought. The Colonel said Mr. Gandhi
knew best how to put it in appropriate language. His own suggestion would [not] be of
much value.

Then he dictated a lengthy statement® which | took down in pencil.

When it was finished, | read it out to him once. Then he called Col. Maddock to
hisside and | read it again at his desire. Col. Maddock was quite satisfied and remarked:
“Of course you know best how to put in proper language.” He then drew up his proper
posture for signing the paper, which he did in pencil. His hand shook very much and |
noticed that he did not dot the “i”. At the end he remarked to the doctor:

See how my hand trembles. Y ou will have to put this right.

Col. Maddock answered: “Oh ! We will put tons and tons of strength into you.”

As the operation room was being got ready, the doctors went out and | found
myself nearly alone with the Mahatma. After a remark or two of a purely personal
nature, | asked him whether he had anything particular to say. | noticed a touch of
eagerness as he replied as though he was waiting for an opportunity to say something.

' Thefollowing item
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If there is an agitation for my release after the operation, which |
do not wish, let it be on proper lines. My quarrel with the Govern-ment
is there and will continue so long as the originating causes exist. Of
course, there cannot be any conditions. If the Government think they
have kept me long enough, they may let me go, that would be
honorable if they think | am an innocent man and that my motives
have been good. While | have a deep quarrel with the Government, |
love the Englishmen and have many friends amongst them. They may
release me. But it must not be on false issues. Any agitation must be
kept on proper, non-violent lines. Perhaps, | have not expressed myself
quite well, but you had better put it in your own inimitable style.

I then pressed him again for a message to his people, his followers or the
country. He was surprisingly firm on this subject. He said he was a prisoner of
Government and he must observe the prisoner’s code of honour scrupulously. He was
supposed to be civilly dead. He had no knowledge of outside events and he could not
have anything to do with the public. He had no message.

“How isit then that Mr. Mahomed Ali communicated a message as from you the
other day?’ The words were scarcely out of my mouth when | regretted them, but recall
was impossible.

He was obviously astonished at my question, and exclaimed.:

Mr. Mahomed Ali ! A message from me!*

Briskly, at this point, the nurse came in with some articles of apparel for him,
and signalled to me to depart. In afew minutes, he was shifted to the operation room. |
sat outside marvelling a the exhibition | had witnessed of high-mindedness,
forgiveness, chivalry and love transcending ordinary human nature, and what a mercy
it was that the non-co-operation movement should have had a leader of such serene
vision and sensitiveness to honour. . .

. | have read out this statement to Dr. Phatak who approves of it and adds that
hisinquiry as to a message elicited the same sort of answers.

The Hindu, 14-1-1924

! Vide however, “Message to Mahomed Ali”, 10-9-1923.
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2. LETTERTO COL. MADDOCK *

SASSOON HOSPITAL,
Poona,
9.45 p. m.,, January 12,1924*

DEAR COL. MADDOCK,

I know that you know the history of my illness during the past 6
months. Y ou have been extraordinarily kind to me. Y ou, the Surgeon-
General and other medical gentlemen have come to the conclusion that
any delay in performing the operation described by you to me involves
considerable risk. Y ou were kind enough to tell me that Government
had authorized you to send for any of my special medical friends. |
therefore suggested the names of Dr. Dalal and Dr. Jivraj Mehta. Y ou
have tried your utmost to secure their presence. But then you have not
been able to get at either of them. | have the fullest confidence in you
and regard being had to the serious nature of the case | would ask you
please to go on with the operation without delay.

| am,
Yours sincerely
From a photostat: S.N. 8121

3. MESSAGE TO THE COUNTRY?

January 14, 1924

| am deeply touched by manifestation of deep affection shown to
me by my countrymen during the critical period of my health. They
need have no anxiety because every possible attention is being given
me by medical authorities here.

Young India, 17-1-1924

' Thiswas also published in The Hindu, 20-1-1924 and The Searchlight,
25-1-1924.

2 The message, given to Dr. Phatak in response to anxious inquiries from all
over the country, was first published in The Bombay Chronicle, 15-1-1924. Young
India reproduced it with a short editorial note under the caption, “The Nation in
Agony”.

® The source gives the date as January 19, obviously a slip. Gandhiji was
operated upon for appendicitis on January 12.
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4. INTERVIEWTO “ THE BOMBAY CHRONICLE”

POONA,
January 19, 1924

The jail authorities cannot be blamed. Our fight must be clean.
Appendicitis is a difficult disease to diagnose. Col. Murray is one of
the best men | have met. He has been very kind to me. He is
conscientious, considerate and kind. | hold the highest opinion about
him.

The Searchlight, 27-1-1924

5. INTERVIEW TO DILIP KUMAR ROY*
February 2, 1924

Our conversation having that morning centered round music, Mahatmaji told me
in passing how fond he really was of music even though he could not boast of the
power of any expert for analytic appreciation. He had said:

| am so found of music that once, while | was in a South African
Hospital and ailing from a bruise on my upper lip, | felt greatly
soothed as the daughter of afriend of mine sang the song ‘Lead,
Kindly Light' at my request.

On my asking him if he knew any of the beautiful songs of Mirabai, he said:

Yes, | have heard a good many of them. They are so beautiful.
It’s because they come from the heart and not from any desire to
compose or to please a public.

| called the same evening at his request. After the music, | saw that it had
affected him visibly. For | thought | saw his eyes glisten even in that none-too-bright
light of the hospital.

“| feel” said | after a short pause, “that our beautiful music has been sadly
neglected in the schools and colleges.” Mahatmaji replied:

Yes, it has, | have aways said so.

Srijut Mahadeo Desai who was present throughout our conversation

! Theinterview between Gandhiji and Roy, an exponent of Indian music and
inmate of the Aurobindo Ashram, Pondicherry, took place at the Sassoon Hosptial.
The extract given hereis from a report which was also reproduced in TheHindu,
7-2-1924, and later, featured in Roy’s book Among the Great, Jaico Publishing House,
Bombay. According to the author, Gandhiji had revised the reports of the talks and
authorized him to publish them in the book.
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corroborated this. “I am glad to hear you say so. Because | have been all along under
the impression that you would be against all arts such as music.”

I ! Against music! Well, | know, | know. . . There are so many
superstitions rife about me that it has become now almost impossible
for me to overtake those who have set them afloat. As aresult, my
friends only smile at me when | try to lay any claim to being an artist
myself.

“l am glad to hear this; because | have been given to understand that in your
philosophy of life, which is one of unqualified asceticism, arts like music can hardly
aspire to any place.” Mahatmaji emphatically said:

But | maintain that asceticism is the greatest art in life.

“What | however meant by art just now is a somewhat different activity such as
music or painting or sculpture for the matter of that. And | had thought that you would
be rather opposed to them than otherwise.” Mahatma said:

I, opposed to arts like music! Why, | cannot even conceive of an
evolution of the religious life of India without music. | do say | am a
lover of music as well as the other arts. Only, my values may be
different from the accepted ones, that's al. | am doubtless against
much that passes for art in these days. | do not for instance call that art
which demands an intimate knowledge of its technique for its
appreciation. If you go to the Satyagraha Ashram, you will find the
walls bare. And my friends object to this. | admit | don’'t have
paintings on the walls of my Ashram. But that is because | think that
the walls are meant for sheltering us, and not because | am opposed to
art as such. For have | not gazed and gazed at the wonderful vault of
the starry sky[ hardly ever tiring of the same? And | do say that | can
never conceive of any painting superior to the star-studded sky in its
satisfying effect on the mind. It has bewildered me, mystified me
O sent me into the most wonderful ecstatic thrills imaginable. Side by
side with this wondrous mystery of God's artistic handiwork, does not
that of man appear to be the merest tinsel ?

| said: “ | agree with you when you say that Nature is a great artist, as also when
you inveigh against the regrettable prostitution of art, which unhappily so often
passes for art. | differ also from those artists who have acquired the habit of saying that
art is even greater than life.”

Exactly. Life is and must always be greater than all the arts put
together. | go still further. For | say that he is the greatest artist who
leads the best life. For what is art without the background and setting of
aworthy life? An art is to be valued only when it ennobles life. | object
emphatically only when people say that art is everything, that it does

VOL. 27 : 12 JANUARY, 1924 - 21 MAY, 1924 5



not matter even if life has to be held subservient to its (i.e., art’s )
fulfilment. | have then to say that my values are different, that is all.
But fancy people saying that | am opposed to all arts on that account !

The Bombay Chronicle, 5-2-1924

6. INTERVIEWTO “ YUGA DHARMA” *

[Before February 5, 1924]

Dr. Sumant enquired of Mahatmaji how it was that such a disease could attack a
man like him who was self-restricted sanyams. Mahatmaji replied that though he was
moderate in food for many year, he had not yet been abstemious as he ought to have
been. Mahatmgji said:

| am sure that my body does not need much food. In fact, very
little food is required when one has to undergo mental work and a
good dea of concentration. Perhaps my weight might have been
decreased by being abstemious. But my body would have been surely
improved.

Mahatmaji was of opinion that there was no necessity of pulse as food for those
who were used to brain work. As regards the amelioration of the depressed classes,
Mahatmaji expressed the necessity of working in the villages by encamping there. He
did not at all believe the rumour that there was a depression in the workers of Gujarat.

In afurther conversation Mahatmaji said:

I have plunged into politics simply in search of Truth. When |
went to jail, | had fixed my programme for full six years. | have
dictated alittle about South Africato Indulal, but my thoughts about
the Gita are still to be dictated and | want to show how to epitomize the
Mahabharata. | also think of writing my autobiography. Still 1 have to
do much.

On Dr. Sumant commenting on the new Labour Government in England by

saying that there were still people who hoped to get sweets from the Labour
Government, Mahatmaji answered with arather grave voice:

People do not leave off the hope of getting help from outside.
Who can give swaraj? We have to take it. What about the depressed
classes and what about solving the problem of Hindu-Muslim unity?
What help can the Labour Government give you as regards these
questions? Y our future liesin your own hands. If you get sweet-balls,
they will be made of stones.

The Hindu, 18-2-1924

' Dr. Sumant Mehta, editor of the Gujarati magazine published from Ahmedabad,
called on Gandhiji at the Sassoon Hospital before release.
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7. ANSWERS TO DREW PEARSON' SQUESTIONS
[After February 5, 1924]?

Mr. Gandhi is recuperating in the mountain air of Poona, just a few miles from
Yeravda prison in which two years of confinement so broke his health that
unconditional release by the British Government was necessary.

His first statement, when interviewed, was:

| shall resume my activities for the attainment of swaraj just as
soon as | am restored to complete health.

What course would he take? He answered quietly:

| still believe it possible for India to remain within the British
Empire. | still put implicit faith in non-violence, which, if strictly
followed by India, will invoke the best in the British people. My hope
for the attainment of swarg by non-violence is based upon an
immutable belief in the goodness which exists deep down in all human
nature.

| have aways maintained that India had no quarrel with the

" In aletter of March 26, 1924 from New Y ork, to Devdas Gandhi, Drew Pearson
threw light on the manner in which the script of the “interview” was prepared for
release. Enclosing “the copy of the interview with father which you so kindly cabled
me recently,” Pearson went on to write, “Y ou will note that the editor has taken certain
privileges with the interview by dating it as cabled from India. My original article
explains that the interview was cabled by you. The interview appeared in about 50
papers in the United States, the list of which | enclose, together with 8 papersin
Australia and New Zealand, 3 in Japan and China, 4 in Canada and was sent to other
papers in Brazil, Argentine, Chile, Mexico, Cuba, South Africa and Hawaii. Y ou will
note that | have enlarged a little bit on your skeletonized cable. In such places where
you referred to the fact that your father’s views do not change, | looked up his views as
recorded in speeches and clippings from Young India and used such as a basis for
enlarging the interview. | did this rather in a hurry and there was not time for your
approval, but I trust it will be satisfactory for you.” Acknowledging Devdas Gandhi’s
letter of March 7, Pearson wrote again on April 15, thanking him for his “trouble and
thoughtfulness in telegraphing the message from your father. As| told you in an earlier
letter, it was published widely all over the United States. | trust your father did not
object to my quoting from his past speeches and writings. . . The telegram arrived in
its original form without censorship.”

Earlier, Drew Pearson had sought Sir George Lloyd's permission to visit
Gandhiji in jail, which was refused. For an account of his interview with the Gover-nor,
vide Appendix “Drew Pearson’s Interview with Sir George Lloyd”, 22-11-1923.

2 The answers were obviously given after Gandhiji’ s release on this date.

VOL. 27 : 12 JANUARY, 1924 - 21 MAY, 1924 7



English. Jesus denounced the wickedness of the Scribes and Pharisees,
but he did not hate them. So we need not hate Englishmen, though we
hate the system they have established. They have given India a system
based upon force, by which they can feel secure only in the shadow of
their forts and guns. We Indians, in turn, hope by our conduct to
demonstrate to every Englishman that he is as safe in the remotest
corner of India as he professes to feel behind the machine gun.

What do yon mean by swaraj?

A full partnership for India with other parts of the Empire, just
the same as Canada, South Africa and Australia enjoy. Nor shall we be
satisfied until we obtain full citizens' rights throughout the British
Dominions for all the King’s subjects, irrespective of caste, colour or
creed.

| asked Mr. Gandhi if he still believed in boycotting the Councils.

Yes, | still believe that we should not participate in the Councils
until Britain suffers a change of heart and acts squarely with us.
However, | do not wish to express any opinion on the action of the
Nationalist party in participating in the Councils, until | have talked
with the leaders. This| have already started to do.

When asked if imprisonment had changed his views on politics and religion,
Mr. Gandhi replied:

They have undergone no change, but have been confirmed by
two years of solitude and introspection. | have been experimenting with
myself and friends by introducing religion into politics, and now |
believe they cannot be divorced. Let me explain what | mean by
religion. It is not Hinduism, which | prize most highly, but the religion
which transcends Hinduism[ the basic truth which underlies al the
religions of the world. It is the struggle for truthld for self-expression. |
call it the truthd force the permanent element in human nature,
constantly struggling to find itself, to know its Maker. Thisis religion.

| believe that politics cannot be divorced from religion. My
politics can be summed up in two wordsll non-violent non-co-
operation. And the roots of non-co-operation are buried in the
religions of the world. Christ refused to co-operate with the Scribes and
Pharisees. Buddha fearlessly refused to co-operate with the arrogant
priesthood of his day. Mahomed, Confucius, most of our great
prophets have been non-co-operators. | simply and humbly follow in
their footsteps.

Non-co-operation means nothing less than training in self
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sacrifice. And this again was practiced by the great teachers of the
world. Strength does not come from physical capacity. It comes from
indomitable will. | have ventured to place before India the ancient law
of self-sacrifice-the obedience to the strength of the spirit.

By non-violence | do not mean cowardice. | do believe that,
where there is only a choice between cowardice and violence, | would
advise violence. But | believe that forgiveness adorns a soldier. And so
I am not pleading for Indiato practise non-violence because she is
weak, but because she is conscious of her power and strength. The
rishis, who discovered the law of non-violence, were greater geniuses
than Newton. Having themselves known the use of arms, they realized
their usel essness and taught a weary world that its salvation lay not
through violence, but through non-violence.

Therefore, | respectfully invite Americans to study carefully the
Indian National Movement and they will therein find an effective
substitute for war.

Before hisimprisonment Mr. Gandhi was a most severe critic of modern
civilization and | asked if his views had suffered any change.

They remain unchanged. My opinion of modern civilization is
that it is a worship of materialism, resulting in the exploitation of the
weak by the strong. American wealth has become the standard. The
United States is the envy of all other nations. Meanwhile, moral growth
has become stunted and progress measured in pounds, shillings and
pence.

This land of ours, we are told, was once the abode of the gods.
But it is not possible to conceive of gods inhabiting aland which is
made hideous by the smoke and din of mill chimneys and factories,
and whose roadways are traversed by rushing engines, dragging cars
crowded with men who know not for the most part what they are after,
do not care, and whose tempers do not improve by being uncom-
fortably packed together like sardines in boxes. Factories have risen on
the corpses of men, women and children to create what we call
civilization.

When asked for his opinion on the action of the Supreme Court in barring
Indians from United States citizenship, Mr. Gandhi replied that he deplored the
decision, and considered it due to American ignorance of India’s civilization and its
possibilities.

Finally, when reminded of the fact that all India worshipped him as a“saint”,
that thousands of children were being named “ Gandhidas”, that wreaths were daily
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freshened over his pictures in millions of homes throughout India, Mr. Gandhi replied
simply:

| think that word “saint” should be ruled out of present life. It is
too sacred aword to be lightly applied to anybody, much less to one
like myself, who claims only to be a humble searcher after Truth.

From a newspaper cutting: S.N. 8956

8. MESSAGE TO GUJARAT VIDYAPITH
[On or before February 6, 1924]?

The message was to the effect that the release from imprisonment was no cause
for rejoicing but rather for greater humility. The burden of responsibility would be now
heavier than ever to bear, and they must prepare themselves and get ready to be strong
enough to bear it when the time came.

The Bombay Chronicle, 9-2-1924

9. TELEGRAM TO LAJPAT RAI ®

POONA,
[On or before February 6, 1924]
THANKS | WILL NOT TROUBLE YOU  WHILE YOU
ARE ILL.  WRITING.*

From a photostat: S.N. 8264

10. INTERVIEW TO “ THE BOMBAY CHRONICLE"

POONA,
[Before February 7, 1924]

Interviewed by Mr. S. A. Brelvi, joint editor of The Bombay Chronicle,

Mahatma Gandhi said that he had been preparing in his mind a message to his
countrymen on his release. The message would take the form of aletter addressed to the

! Vide “Neither a Saint nor a Politician”, 12-5-1920.

® Thiswasin reply to Lajpat Rai’s telegram of February 6, 1924, which read:
"Returned Lahore this morning. Not quite well. Prakasam wires you want me Poona.
Wire your wishes.”

® Vide “Letter to Lajpat Rai”, 8-2-1924.

* This was conveyed by C. F. Andrews to the members of the Sabarmati Ashram
and the Gujarat Vidyapith on February 6. For Andrew’ s statement on Gandhiji’ s release,
vide Appendix “Andrews’ Statement on Gandhiji’s Release”, 7-2-1924.
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President of the Congress, Maulana Mahohmed Ali, just as, soon after his conviction,
he had wished to speak to his countrymen through a letter addressed to the then
President, Hakim Ajmal Khan Saheb. The letter to the Hakim Saheb, however, never
reached him, because the Government, of Bombay asked the Mahatma to alter and
amend certain passages which he refused to do. The Mahatma intended to take the
earliest opportunity of publishing that letter.

He was grieved to find, he said, that the decision of the Government to release
him was based on considerations of his health. He would be very glad to believe that
his release indicated a change in the attitude of Government towards him and his
activities and a realization on their part that his preaching of non-violence was not a
cover for violence as was represented by his misguided critics. He would heartily
welcome any indication that the Government had grasped the fact that non-violence
was the essence of the non-co-operation movement.

The Hindu, 8-2-1924

11. LETTERTO MAHOMED ALI*

SASSOON HOSPITAL,
POONA,
February 7, 1924
MY DEAR FRIEND AND BROTHER,

| send you as President of the Congress a few words which |
know our countrymen expect from me on my sudden release. | am
sorry that the Government have prematurely released me on account of
my illness. Such arelease can bring me no joy, for | hold that the

illness of a prisoner affords no ground for his release.

| would be guilty of ungratefulnessif | did not tell you, and
through you the whole public, that both the jail and the hospital
authorities have been all attention during my illness. Col. Murray, the
Superintendent of the Y eravda Prison, as soon as he suspected that my
illness was at all serious, invited Col. Maddock to assist him and | am
sure that the promptest measures were taken by him to secure for me
the best treatment possible. | could not have been removed to the David
and Sassoon Hospitals a moment earlier. Col. Maddock and his staff
have treated me with the utmost attention and kindness. | may not omit
the nurses who have surrounded me with sisterly care. Though it is now
open to me to leave this hospital, knowing that | can get no better
treatment anywhere else, with Col. Maddock’s kind permission | have
decided to remain under his care till the wound is healed and no

! This was also published in The Bombay Chronicleand The Hindu. 8-2-1924.
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further medical treatment is necessary.

The public will easily understand that for some time to come |
shall be quite unfit for active work, and those who are interested in my
speedy return to active life will hasten it by postponing their natural
desire to see me. | am unfit and shall be so for some weeks perhaps to
see a number of visitors. | shall better appreciate the affection of
friends if they will devote greater time and attention to such national
work as they may be engaged in and especially to hand-spinning.

My release has brought me no relief. Whereas before release |
was free from responsibility save that of conforming to jail discipline
and trying to qualify myself for more efficient service, | am now
overwhelmed with a sense of responsibility | am ill-fitted to discharge.
Telegrams of congratulations have been pouring in upon me. They
have but added to the many proofs | have received of the affection of
our countrymen for me. It naturally pleases and comforts me. Many
telegrams, however, betray hopes of results from my service which
stagger me. The thought of my utter incapacity to cope with the work
before me humbles my pride.

Though | know very little of the present situation in the country,
I know sufficient to enable me to see that, perplexing as the national
problems were at the time of the Bardoli resolutions, they are far more
perplexing today. It is clear that, without unity between Hindus,
Mahomadans, Sikhs, Parsis and Christians and other Indians, all talk of
swargj isidle. This unity which | fondly believed, in 1922, had been
nearly achieved has, so far as Hindus and Mussal mans are concerned, |
observe, suffered a severe check. Mutual trust has given place to
distrust. An indissoluble bond between the various com-munities must
be established if we are to win freedom. Will the thanks giving of the
nation over my release be turned into a solid unity between the
communities? That will restore me to health far quicker than any
medical treatment or rest-cure. When | heard in the jail of the tension
between Hindus and Mussamans in certain places, my heart sank
within me. The rest | am advised to have will be no rest with the burden
of disunion preying upon me. | ask all those who cherish love towards
me to utilize it in furtherance of the union we all desire. | know that the
task is difficult. But nothing is difficult if we have aliving faithin
God. Let us realize out own weakness and approach Him and He will
surely help. It is weakness which breeds fear and fear breeds distrust
Let us both shed our fear, but | know that, even if one of us will cease
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to fear, we shall cease to quarrel. Nay, | say that your tenure of office
will be judged solely by what you can do in the cause of union. | know
that we love each other as brothers. | ask you, therefore, to share my
anxiety and help me to go through the period of illness with a lighter
heart.

If we could but visualize the growing pauperism of the land and
realize that the spinning-wheel is the only remedy for the disease, the
wheel will leave us little leisure for fighting. | had during the last two
years ample time and solitude for hard thinking. It made me a firmer
believer than ever in the efficacy of the Bardoli programme and,
therefore, in the unity between the races, the charkha, the removal of
untouchability and the application of non-violence in thought, word
and deed to out methods as indispensable for swargj. If we faithfully
and fully carry out this programme, we need never resort to civil
disobedience and | should hope that it will never be necessary. But |
must state that my thinking prayerfully and in solitude has not weak-
ened my belief in the efficiency and righteousness of civil disobe-
dience. | hold it, as never before, to be aman’s or a nation’ s right and
duty when itsvital being is in jeopardy. | am convinced that it is
attended with less danger than war and, whilst the former, when suc-
cessful, benefits both the resister and the wrongdoer, the latter harms
both the victor and the vanquished.

Y ou will not expect me to express any opinion on the vexed
guestion of return by Congressmen to the Legidative Councils and
Assembly. Though | have not in any way altered my opinion about the
boycott of Councils, Law Courts and Government Schools, | have no
data for coming to a judgment upon the alterations made at Delhi, and
| do not propose to express any opinion until | have had the
opportunity of discussing the question with our illustrious country-men
who have felt called upon, in the interest of the country, to advise
removal of the boycott of legislative bodies.

In conclusion, may I, through you thank all the very numerous
senders of congratulatory messages. It is not possible for me personally
to acknowledge each message. It has gladdened my heart to see among
the messages many from our Moderate friends. | have, and non-co-
operators can have, no quarrel with them. They too are well-wishers of
their country and serve to the best of their lights. If we consider them
to be in the wrong, we can hope to win them over only by friendliness
and patient reasoning, never by abusing. Indeed, we want to regard
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Englishmen too as our friends and not misunderstand them by treating
them as our enemies. And if we are today engaged in a struggle against
the British Government, it is against the system for which it stands and
not against Englishmen who are administering the system. | know that
many of us have failed to understand and always bear in mind the
distinction and, in so far as we have failed, we have harmed our cause.
l'am,
Your sincere friend and brother,

Young India, 14-2-1924

12. LETTER TO PRANJIVAN MEHTA

SASSOON HOSPITAL
POONA,
Maha Sud 2 [February 7, 1924]*
BHAISHRI PRANJVAN,

| thought of you constantly. Hardly a day passed in the jail when
I did not remember you. Having protested to the Government on the
issue of my correspondence and stopped writing letters altogether, how
could | make an exception in your case and write to you? Today is the
third day since my release. There is some strength in my hand and the
very first letter | am writing isto you.

Aswe are now both unwell, who should enquire about whom?
My health is improving. The wound has not healed completely. The
doctor thinks at present that it will take about aweek to heal. it seems |
shall have to pass this whole month here. What to do after that | shall
decide only then.

Revashankarbhai and the others who had been to see you tell me
that you are much better now. Write to me yourself only if you can
write letters with your own hand, otherwise dictate to someone. | shall
certainly like seeing you when | am well. Do you think your health will
permit your coming?

Vandemataram from
MOHANDAS
From photostat of the gujarati: G. N. 131

' The letter was written on the third day after Gandhiji’s release on February 5.
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13. LETTERTO LAJPAT RAI*

SASSOON HOSPITAL,
February 8 [1924]
DEAR LALAJ,
| had promised to write to you, but could not until now. My hand
is still weak. | wanted to dictate the letter, but when | was ready to do so,
none of my assistants was available.

| do not remember having told Shri Prakasam that you should
come down to Poona and see me. But then | do much want to see you
at the earliest opportunity and have along chat with you about Hindu-
Muslim unity, Hindu-Sikh unity, the Councils, the untouch-ables, and
other problems. But this is possible only when you are perfectly well
and | am able to bear the strain of afairly long conver-sation. But how
can | ask you to take the trouble of coming over here if your health is
not quite all right or if it cannot stand the long journey? Moreover, |
want you to have at your disposal full three days when you come here.
Maybe, we may have to carry on our talks in separate instalments. So
far as | am concerned, | should, | think, be fit enough by next
Wednesday unless the wound is hiding treacherous stitches or any other
foreign matter.

Yours,

M. K. GANDHI

[From Hindi]
Hindi Navajivan, 17-2-1924

! Part of this letter, which is likely to have been written in English, was
published in The Hindu, 12-2-1924. It was in reply to a telegram of February 7 from

Lajpat Rai, reading: “Will befit to travel few days. Will come immediately. Meantime
awaiting your letter. Your health greatest importance.”
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14. TELEGRAM TO LAJPAT RAI*

POONA,
February 12, 1924

THANK YOU EIGHTEENTH WILL SUIT ME ADMIRABLY.

GANDHI
From photostat: S. N. 8325

15. LETTERTO MAHOMED YAKUB
[February 12, 1924]>

Mahatma Gandhi has written to Mr. Mahomed Y akub requesting him to desist
from moving in the Assembly® to recommend the Nobel Peace Prize to him, his efforts
in the cause of world peace being their own prize. Any recognition by Europe of the
doctrine of non-violence would be welcome to Mahatmaji, but the value of such
recognition would be lost if the prize is not spontaneously offered, but is to be awarded
through extraneous recommendation. Moreover, the idea of his name being put forward
in competition with that of a countryman of his is extremely distasteful to Mahatmaji.*

The Hindu, 14-2-1924

! Lajpat Rai had telegraphed Gandhiji on February 12, 1924,: “ Thanks. Can
start fourteenth reaching eighteenth. Wire wishes.” Lajpat Rai replied to this stating
that he would reach Poona on February 17 and see Gandhiji the following day. S.N.
8326.

2 Asgiven in Mahomed Y akub's reply dated February 17.

¥ Central Legislative Assembly of which he was a member

* Mahomed Y akub in his reply agreed to respect Gandhiji’s wish, and added:
“The contents of your letter are so noble that | would like to have them placed on the
record of the Assembly.” S.N. 8334
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16. LETTERTO NARAHARI PARIKH

Wednesday [February 13, 1924]*

BHAISHRI NARAHARI,

Mahadev told me today about your mind being at peace. | often
feel tempted to wire, but | control myself. | do not want to be
impatient. You and I, all of us, arein the hands of God. We should
always obey the dictates of our conscience and think no more. Why
should we then worry about the result? | only want to be assured that
Manibehn®* is not a al worried and that she understands the
significance of your penance.

Blessings from
BAPU
From a photostat of the Gujarati: S.N. 9044

17. ANTI-INDIAN CAMPAIGN IN SOUTH AFRICA:

February 14, 1924]

As one expected to understand the situation created in South
Africa by the anti-Asiatic movement now going on there, and
especially the Class Areas Bill now under consideration by the Union
Parliament, | deem it my duty to place my opinion on the situation
before the public.

The anti-Asiatic agitation on the part of Europeans in South
Africais no new thing. It is almost as old as the first settlement of
unindentured Indians in South Africa, and is principally due to trade
jealousy on the part of white retail traders. As in other parts of the
world so in South Africa, interested men, if they sufficiently persist,
find no difficulty in gathering the support round them of those who
are not so interested, but who do not think for themselves. The present
agitation, | remember, was begun as early as 1921, and the Class

! The Wednesday following the commencement of addressee’s fast to which
the letter alludes fell on this date.
> Addressee swife

® This statement was published generally in the Press.
* Vide “Notes”, 6-4-1921.

VOL. 27 : 12 JANUARY, 1924 - 21 MAY, 1924 17



Areas Bill is, no doubt, one result of that agitation.

Before dealing with the nature and effect of the BiIll, It is
necessary to point out that it isin breach of the compromise of 1914
arrived at between the Union Government and the Indian community
of South Africa.* But it was a compromise to which both the Indian
Government and the Imperial Government were as much party as the
Union Government and the Indian community, because the comp-
romise was arrived at with the knowledge and concurrence of the
Imperial the and Indian Governments. The latter had even sent Sir
Benjamin Robertson as a representative, technically to watch the
course of the Commission that was appointed by the Union Govern-
ment to inquire into the Indian position, but in reality to negotiate a
settlement. The main terms of the compromise were settled before Sir
Benjamin Robertson, who represented the Indian Government,
returned to India

In accordance with that compromise, no further anti-Asiatic
legislation was to be passed by the Union Government. The under-
stannding at the time was that the legal position of the Indian would
be gradually improved and that the then existing anti-Asiatic legis-
lation would, in time to come, be repealed. The contrary has, however,
happened. The public may remember that the first attempt to break
the spirit of the compromise was made when, in the Transvaal, an
attempt was made to enforce the existing legislation adversely to the
Indians and contrary to the practice that prevailed at the time of the
compromise. The Class Areas hill, however, goes much further in
restricting Indian liberty.

Whatever may be the other implications of the compromise, this
much cannot be disputed by any party, that the settlement of 1914
pledged the Union Government not to put further restrictions upon
the Indian liberty, and apart from the general powers of disallowance
vested in His Majesty under the Letter of Instructions addressed to the
Governor-General of South Africa, the Imperial Government if they
would be true to their trust are bound, at any cost, to insist upon the
observance of the terms of the compromise referred to by me.

We in India may not ignore the difficulties of the Union
Government which is dependent for its existence solely upon the will
of the Europeans of South Africa expressed through their elected
representatives to the exclusion of Indians and the natives of the soil.

! Vide“ The End of the Struggle’, 8-7-1914.
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This unwarranted exclusion is the original flaw in the South African
constitution, asit is to be found in the constitution of most of the self-
governing Colonies which have their native populations and Indian
populations. As the Imperial Government permitted the flaw, itisin
honour bound to prevent untoward results arising from it. South
Africaand Kenyawill presently show what moral worth thereisin the
Imperial system. Pressure of public opinion may, and probably will,
bring about temporary relief in both the places; but it will be only
temporary. It can merely postpone the final act in the tragedy unless
some unforeseen radical change, either in England or in India, takes
place.

And now for the Bill itself. Unlike the Natal Municipal
Franchise Bill, which happily the Union Governor-General has in
effect vetoed and which applied only to Natal, the Class Areas Bill is
designed to apply to all the four* provinces. It enables the Govern-
ment to segregate all the domiciled Indians and other Asiatics alike
for residence and trade. It is, therefore, an extension, in a modified
manner, of the location system? devised as early as 1885 by the late
Transvaal Government.

Let me say in afew words what the segregation may mean. The
Indian Location in Pretoria, where, in spit of the Law of 1885, not a
single Indian has been as yet compelled to remove, is situated far away
from the town itself and entirely outside the beat of the buyer, whether
English, Dutch or native. The only trade possible in such Locations is
trade among themselves. Segregation, therefore, carried out to the full
means nothing less than compulsory repatriation without any
compensation. It is true that the Bill appears to preserve to a certain
extent the existing rights. But that reservation is of little consequence
to the Indian settlers. | do not wish to burden this note by citing
illustrations from my South African experience to show how such
reservations have, in practice, proved almost useless.

Finally, let it be remembered that, when Indian emigration to
South Africawas unrestricted, the fear of the Europeans was expressed
to be that South Africa might be swamped by India’ s millions. All the
South African statesmen then used to say that South Africa could
easily digest a small Indian population and could even give it aliberal

! The source has “poor”, evidently a misprint.
2 Indians and natives in South Africa were forced to reside in certain areas
which were known as “Locations”.
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treatment, but that the European settlers could never rest content so
long as the possibility of swamping remained. Now that the so-
calledmessage to gujarat vidyapith message to gujarat vidyapith fear
of swamping has been removed, practically since 1897, the cry is
raised for segregation; and, if that is accomplished, the next step will
be compulsory repartiation. If the segregated Indians do not volun-
tarily retire, the fact is that the more accommodating the European
settlers of South Africafind the Imperial trustees to be, the more
grasping they become in their anti-Asiatic demands.

Young India, 21-2-1924

18. TELEGRAM TO LAJPAT RAI*

[POONA,
On or after February 15, 1924]

SORRY YOU HAVE FEVER AGAIN. HOPE YOU WILL
BE SOON FREE. NO HURRY ABOUT COMING SUGGEST
YOUR COMING  POONA FOR REST.

From a photostat: S. N. 8333

19. TELEGRAM TO C. R. DAS

[POONA,
On or after February 19, 1924]
WILL BE DELIGHTED MEET FRIENDS NAMED. WILL HOLD
SILENCE PACT TILL MEETING.
GANDHI

From a photostat: S. N. 8353

! Thiswasin reply to Lajpat Rai’ s telegram of February 15, 1924, which read:
“Had fever yesterday. Could not start. Will wire again.”

> Thiswasin reply to C. R. Das's telegram of February 19, 1924, which read:
“Motilal and | coming together. Have wired him to fix date. Want you hear me before
you advise Hindu-Muslim pact. Suggest meeting of Motilal myself Lajpat and
Malaviyain your presence.”
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20. LETTER TO NARAHARI PARIKH

Thursday [February 21, 1924]*

BHAISHRI NARAHARI,

| am glad to know that your fast is over. Bhai Lakshmidas,
Ramji and Gangabehn are sitting here as | write this letter. The
excitement of the fast while it isin progress keeps up our spirit, but
the period following its end is a difficult time. Be careful in your
food. For the present take liquid food only. Start taking chapatis and
other things gradually. | am sure you will be patient in your attitude
towards others. However, | caution you again since you have had
difficultiesin the past. After the fast is over, the mind becomes restless
and it is difficult to control it. More when you come.

Blessings from
BAPU
From a photostat of the Gujarati: S.N. 9045.

21. TELEGRAM TO DR. SATYAPAL:?

[On or after February 23, 1924]
DR. SATYAPAL®

DISTRESSED OVER NEWS MORE BECAUSE HELPLESS AND
UNABLE ADVISE. WITHOUT FULL STUDY OF WHICH
SICKNESS RENDERS ME INCAPABLE.

From a photostat: S. N. 9916

' Thursday’ here is evidently of the week following February 13, the date of
Gandhiji’s previous letter, written when the fast was on.

> Thiswas inreply to Dr. Satyapal’s telegram received on February 23, 1924,
which read: “ Situation Jaiton serious. Jatha fired at. Kitchlew and Gidwani arrested.
Several died many wounded. Exact number unknown. Reporters not allowed. Congress
Committee sent ambulance corps already. They not permitted to work. Working
Committee passed resolutions to sent another corps. Administrator-General Nabha
wired for permission corps to relieve suffering. Shiromani Committee assured all
possible help. Wire further instructions.” The telegram was followed by a letter of the
same date. written earlier; vide Appendix “Letter from Dr. Satyapal”, 23-2-1924.

® Congress leader of the Punjab.
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22. TELEGRAM TO MAHOMED AL *

POONA,
[On or after February 24, 1924]

NOT INFORMED OR FIT ENOUGH GUIDE DELIBERA-
TIONS COMMITTEE.

From a photostat: S. N. 8371
23. OPEN LETTERTO AKALIS *

February 25, 1924

DEAR COUNTRYMEN,

It was with great distress that | heard about the shooting of an
Akali Jatha on the orders of the Adminstrator of the Nabha State,
resulting in several members being killed and many more wounded.?
In reply to telegrams, beyond sending a message of sympathy, | had
no wish to say or do anything more. It is contrary to the wish of Col.
Maddock, who has covered me with every form of kindness during
my illness, that | am undertaking a moderate amount of activity in the
shape of informing myself of the prevailing situation in the country.
The following telegram just received from Zira, “Come unminding
health condition soonl] Akali Jatha”’ compels me to say something
in connection with the tragedy just mentioned. | do not happen to
know the sender of the telegram, but had it been at all possible for me,
| would certainly have gone down in reply to the message. The wound
being yet unhealed, any such journey is a physical impossibility. | am,
therefore, doing the next best thing. | need hardly assure the Akali
Sikhs of my sympathy in the loss of so many brave men and many
more being wounded. Without full facts before me, | am unable to say
whether the march of alarge number of men in order to pay devotion
to the shrine of Gangsar at Jaiton was or was hot justified. But | would

! Thiswasin reply to Mahomed Ali’s telegram of February 24, 1924: “If you
consider necessary please send messages with instructions regarding situation
recently created to Delhi. Working Committee meeting 26th.” S.N. 8371.

® This was published generally in the Press
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ask the Akali Sikhs not to send any more Jathas without further
deliberation and consultation with those leaders outside the Sikh
community who have hitherto been giving them advice. It would be
well to stop and watch developments arising out of the tragedy. One
of the telegrams received by me tells me that the Jatha was and
remained throughout strictly non-violent. Y ou have, from the very
commencement, claimed that your movement is perfectly non-violent
and religious. | would like every one of us to understand all the
implications of non-violence.

I am not unaware of the fact that non-violence is not your final
creed. It is, therefore, doubly incumbent upon you to guard against
any violence in thought or word creeping in the movement. Over 25
years of the practice of non-violence in the political field has shown
me as clearly as daylight that, in every act of ours, we have to watch
our thoughts and words in connection with the movement in which we
may be engaged. Non-violence is impossible without deep humility
and the strictest regard for truth and, if such non-violence has been
possible in connection with movements not termed religious, how
much easier it should be with those like you who are conducting a
strictly religious movement?

| have deemed it necessary to reiterate what | used to say about
non-violence before my imprisonment, because | have observed,
during my brief study of the events of the past years, that we who
claim to be engaged in a non-violent movement have not fully in
thought and speech conformed to out creed during the past two years,
as we certainly did not during the previous years. | am sorry to have
to say that what | wrote about ourselves in the pages of Young India
during the three months prior to my arrest holds truer today than it
did then.

| have not the slightest doubt in my mind that. had we practiced
non-violence in the sense | mean during all these five years, we would
not only have achieved our common goal, but there would be today
no differences and quarrels between Hindus and Mussal-mans. In
drawing your attention, therefore, to the necessity of non-violencein
your special struggle about your Gurdwaras, | do not wish to be
understood to mean that there has been greater disregard of the
essentials of non-violence amongst you than amongst the other
communities.

But aword of caution is more necessary in your case, because
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you have never flagged. You have been incessantly active in the
pursuit of your special goal. | would, therefore, have you to search
yourselves and, if you find that you have not been true to the standard
you set before yourselves, to cease further demonstration for the time
being and perform the necessary cleansing process before beginning
anew; and | doubt not that your effort will be crowned with success.

| remain,
Yours friend and servant,
M. K. GANDHI
From a photostat: S.N. 10055; also Young India, 28-2-1924

24. TELEGRAM TO DAS

[On or after February 25, 1924]

PHYSICALLY IMPOSSIBLE WOUND UNHEALED. PRAY
WIRE  SITUATION.

GANDHI
From a photostat: S.N. 8376

25. MY JAIL EXPERIENCES®?

February 26, 1924

It was my intention to publish all the important correspondence

| had with the authorities during my incarceration as part of my jail
experiences, which | intend to write out if health and time permit. But
it is not possible for me to do so for some time to come. Meanwhile,
friends have urged me to publish the correspondence without delay. |
appreciate the force of their reasoning, and, therefore, present the
readers of Young India with a portion of it this week. The main part
of the contention raised in the letter® to Hakimji stands good even in

! Thiswas in reply to addressee’ s telegram of February 25, 1924, from Zira
which read: “Come unminding health condition soon.d Akali Jatha” The identity of
Das is not known. Vide also “ Statement on Open Letter to Akalis’, 28-2-1924.

> This was Gandhiji’'s prefatory note to the correspondence which, as a
prisoner, he had carried on with the Y eravda Jail authorities from April 1922 onwards.

% Vide “Letter to Hakim Ajmal Khan”, 14-4-1922.
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the light of subsequent experience. But, in justice to the Jail officials, |
must add that, so far as my physical comfort was concerned, pro-
gressively better facilities were given to me. Mr. Banker, much to my
joy, was restored to me. The marking line referred to in the first letter
to Hakimji was done away with, and both of us had a run of the whole
yard. On Mr. Banker’s discharge, without any request on my part, the
then Superintendent, Major Jones, obtained the Govern-ment's
permission to send Mr. Manser Ali Soktato me as a companion, a
consideration which | very greatly esteemed. For, Mr., Manser Ali
Sokta was not only a valuable companion, but was also an ideal Urdu
teacher for me. Soon after, Mr. Indulal Y agnik came and added to our
pleasure. Major Jones the transferred us three to the European ward
where we had superior accommodation and not a bad garden in front
of us. On Mr. Manser Ali Sokta s discharge, Major Jones's successor,
Col. Murray, obtained the Government’ s permission to put Mr. Abdul
Gani with me as a companion who, in addition to giving Mr. Y agnik
and myself joy, replaced Mr, Manser Ali Sokta as my Urdu teacher
and took great pains in order to improve my Urdu Calligraphy. Had
my sickness not interrupted the course, he would have made of me a
passable Urdu scholar. so far, therefore, as my physical comforts were
concerned, both the Government and the Jail officials did al that
could possibly be expected to make me happy. And if | suffered from
illness now and then, it is my firm belief that neither the Government
nor the Jail authorities could in any way be blamed. | was allowed to
choose my own diet and both Major Jones and Col. Murray, asalso in
this respect Col. Dalziel, who preceded Major Jones, strictly respected
all my scruples about diet. The European jailers too were most
attentive and courteous. | cannot recall a single occasion when they
can be said to have unduly interfered with me. And even whilst | was
subjected to ordinary jail inspection, to which | cheerfully submitted,
they carried it out considerately and even apologetically I. | entertain
high regard for both Major Jones and Col. Murray as men. They
never let me feel that | was a prisoner.

Subject to what | have said about the kindness of officials, | am
unable to revise the estimate | gave in Hakimji’'s letter about the
soulless policy of the Government regarding political prisoners. All |
have said in that letter was confirmed by later experience. For proof
of this statement the reader must wait till | am able to write out my
experiences. My purpose just now is to avoid any the least possibility
of the correspondence being so interpreted as to cast any reflection
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upon the Jail officials or, for that matter, even upon the Government,
so far as my physical well-being was concerned.

I must not close this note without expressing my deep gratitude
to the convict warders who were placed in charge of us. Instead of
acting as supervisors, they rendered me and all my companions every
assistance. They would not allow us to do any labour in the shape of
cleaning the cells, etc. | shall have to say more about them in my
experiences, but | cannot restrain myself against mentioning the name
of Gangappa. He became a most efficient nurse to me. His scrupulous
regard to every detail, his always anticipating every want of mine, his
readiness to serve me at all hours of the night, his loving nature, his
strict honesty and his general observance of the Jail rules and the Jail
discipline commanded my admiration. | wonder how society can
punish a man capable of showing such lofty character and how a
Government can keep such a man in prison. Gangappa is unlettered.
He is not a political prisoner. He was convicted of murder, or some
such crime. But | must not pursue this subject any further. | must
postpone its consideration to a future date. | have mentioned
Gangappa merely to pay my humble tribute to fellow-prisoners like
him.

M. K. GANDHI

Young India, 28-2-1924

26. STATEMENT ON OPEN LETTER TO AKALIS

February 28, 1924

| have just read a paragraph in the news column of The Bombay
Chronicle of the 28th February about the Jaiton tragedy in which it is
suggested that my open letter to the Akali Sikhsis based on wrong
information supplied to me and that “in this respect people mostly
suspect Lala Lajpat Rai”. In justice to Lalgi, | wish to state that,
before he saw me, | had read all | could about the tragedy and that,
when the telegram inviting me to go to the Punjab was received, | had
made up my mind, before Lalaji had seen that telegram, that | should
make some such statement as ultimately | did make. As the telegram
asking me to come down and stop Akali Jathas was received from Zira
and | did not know anybody there and as was anxious that the advice |

! Vide “Open Letter to Akalis’, 25-2-1924.
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tendered should reach the Akali Sikhs as early as possible, | adopted
the method of the open letter. My letter was based purely on the
information gleaned by me from the papers and the knowledge
acquired by me after my release about the state of the spirit of non-
violence in thought, word and deed in the country. Lalgji did see the
letter and under his pressure | struck out alarge number of passages
which otherwise | would have retained and which were stronger than
the final letter. Lalgji further pressed me to end the letter at the clause
advising the Akali Sikhs not to send another Jatha before deliberation
with non-Sikhs advisers, but as | felt that a general reference to the
implications of non-violence at this moment was of vital importance, |
was obliged respectfully to differ from Lalaji’s advice and retained
the passages regarding non-violence.

M. K. GANDHI
From a photostat: G.N. 5212; also The Hindu, 29-2-1924

27. INTERVIEW TO SND DEPUTATION

POONA,
February 28, 1924

A deputation consisting of Mr. Jairamdas Doulatram, Khazi Abdul Rehman,
Seth Isserdas and Mr. R. K. Sidhwa waited upon Mahatma Gandhi this morning
requesting him to come to Karachi to restore his health. Mahatmaji was lying in bed
and received the deputation cheerfully.

Mr. Sidhwa acted as spokesman and said: “Y our health will be immensely
improved on the sea beach of Karachi where the weather is excellent.” Mahatmaji
replying said:

I would wish | could come to Karachi to gain health because |
know Clifton is an excellent place, but | wish to remain in a central
place so that friends would not find it inconvenient to see me from
places far off. Hence | have decided to stay in Andheri* near the sea.

MR. SIDHWA: We look to your health first and those intending to see you could
come even from thousands of miles. So you should come to Karachi. People are more
anxious about you health.

It istrue, friends could come to see me from any distance, but |
don’'t want to trouble them. | had an invitation from Ceylon also and,
although | have not seen Ceylond | am told that it is a beautiful and

A suburb of Bombay
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lovely place for the convenience of visitors with whom | have to
consult often, | have decided to remain near Bombay. | had once
decided to live at Dadabhoy Naoroji’s house and | was glad that |
would be staying in the house of persons under whom | had learnt
politics.

Anmrita Bazar Patrika, 4-3-1924

28. LETTERTO G. N. KANITKAR

POONA,
February 29, 1924
MY DEAR KANITKAR,

Y ou are hatching before the hen has come to the roost. | have
no idea when the autobiography will be commenced. If, however, it
ever sees the light of day, as far as | am concerned, you shall have the
right of translation. But | am afraid Kaka or Anandaswami will have
the final say in the matter.* If you, therefore, want to take premature
precaution, please write to one of them, or both.

Yours sincerely,
M. K GANDHI
GAJANAN N. KANITKAR
MANAGING TRUSTEE, S. R. PATHSHALA
CHINCHWAD
From the original: C. W. 956. Courtesy: G N. Kanitkar
29. LETTERTOD. V. GOKHALE
SASSOON HOSPITAL,
POONA,

February 29, 1924

DEAR MR. GOKHALE,

| was pained to see a paragraph in the Kesari referring to what
little | am doing to understand the dispute between the Moslem
trustees and the Hindus concerned. | would like you, if you could,

! KakaKalelkar and Swami Anand were connected with Navajivan and Young
India.
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toprevent further reference to my work in connection with it. Any
such publicity, in my opinion, lessens my usefulness for truce.
Yours sincerely,
M. K. GANDHI
SH. D. V. GOKHALE
POONA

From a photostat: G. N. 5213

30. MESSAGE TO POONA MEETING!

POONA,

March 1, 1924

| wish the meeting every success. Had we developed enough

strength, we could have secured Mr. Horniman’s return long ago. The

Government have sinned doubly, first in deporting him and secondly

in not permitting him to return, but they have sinned because we were
weak.

The Hindu, 3-3-1924

31. STATEMENT ON AKALI MOVEMENT

[POONA]

March 4, 1924

If 1 am entirely satisfied as to the nature and implications of the

present Akali movement and the methods adopted to gain the end, |

should have no hesitation in throwing myself heart and soul into it

and even in burying myself in the Punjab, if it became necessary in

order to guide the movement. The satisfaction that | require is on the
following:

(1) The strength of the Akalis.

(2) (&) A clear manifesto publicly stating the minimum, which
I understand to be the performance of the Akhand Path cere-
mony in Gangsar Gurdwara, the Sikhs openly and sincerely
declaring that it has no political end and that they do not desire,

! This was a meeting of citizens held under the presidentship of prof. R.P.
Paranjpye to protest against the refusal of the British Government to issue B. G.
Horniman a passport. Horniman had been deported in 1919. Gandhiji’ s message was
read out by C. F. Andrews at the meeting which adopted a resolution holding
Horniman's deportation illegal and demanding facilities for his return.
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through the Akhand Path movemnet, in any shape or form, to
carry on an agitation, directly or indirectly, for the restoration
of the Nabha Maharaj*. The agitation which the Akalisintend to
carry on in connection with such restoration will be on an
independent footing and will be purely a separate movement.

(b) In connection with the movement for control of gurdwaras
in every case of disputed control or possession, the matter
should be referred to arbitration. In the case of historical gurd-
waras, it will be assumed that all such gurdwaras must remain in
the control of the S.G.P. Committee. But the question of fact
whether a particular gurdwara is or is not historical will be a
subject matter of arbitration, and the burden of proving that it is
so will lie on the shoulders of the S.G.P. Committee.

With reference to al other gurdwaras, al the facts in
dispute should be a subject matter of arbitration.

In the event of the party in possession of such gurdwaras
declining to surrender control to the S.G.P. Committee or to
refer the matter in dispute to arbitration., the Akalis would be
free to take such direct action as is consistent with non-violence
in the strictest sense of the term.

(3) Full assurance and, therefore, a document intended for
publication signed by all the principal leaders or on behalf of
the S.G.P.C., giving a description of the methods which will
clearly set forth all the implications of non-violence. By the
term | do not wish to convey that non-violence is to be regarded
in the document referred to above as the final creed of the
Sikhs, which | know it is not. but | do understand that their
methods, so far as this Gurdwara movement is concerned, will
be absolutely non-violent, that is to say, the Akalis will be non-
violent in thought, word and deed in connection with all
persons, whether Government officials, English and otherwise,
or whether members of the public belonging to any denom-
ination whatsoever, who may be regarded as opponents of the

! The Maharaj of Nabha abdicated in early 1923 and the Government of India
took over the administration of the State. The reason apparently was the friction
which had lately developed between Nabha and the neighbouring State of Patiala. The
Shiromani Gurdwara Prabhandhak Committee, a body in charge of Sikh religious
affairs, contended that the abdication was not voluntary and demanded that the
Maharaja be restored to his throne. Vide India in 1923-24.
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objects of the Akali movement. Absolute adherence to truth |
regard as an integral part of any scheme of non-violence,
whether it istemporary or permanent and whether it is restricted
to persons or places. It, therefore, admits of no diplomacy, as we
understand the term, and it rejects altogether the prevailing
normal ideathat it is legitimate to have surreptitious methods
with regard to opponents. It follows that there is to be no
secrecy.

(4) That the movement is neither anti-Hindu nor anti any other

race or creed.

(5) That the S.G.P.C. has no desire for the establishment of

Sikh Raj and, as a matter of fact, the Committeeis purely a

religious body and, therefore, as such can have no secular

object or intention.

Asto the restoration of Nabha Mahargja:

In my opinion, whatever the true facts may be, the Mahara has
by his writings made it practically impossible for his well-wishers to
carry on an effective agitation for his restoration. If, however, he
makes a public statement that all the writings were practically extorted
from him and that he is quite willing and anxious that all the facts
against him should be published and if he is prepared to face all the
consequences of the agitation, viz., deprivation of titles, annuity, etc.,
and if all his allegations regarding duress can be proved, it is possible
to carry on an effective and even successful agitation.

In any event, when the declaration of the kind mentioned is
made by the Maharaja, the agitation should be an all-India agitation.
The Akalis should merely assist in the observation of faith.

M. K. GANDHI
From a photostat: G. N. 3766 and 3767

32. LETTERTO SKH FRIENDS

[POONA,]
March 4, 1924
DEAR FRIENDS,

I learnt through Punditji Motilal after you had gone that the
S.G.P.C. was actually defending the accused in the matter of the
prosecution of Akalis. | learnt, too, that a Hindu temple within the
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precincts of the Golden Temple had been destroyed by the Akalis and
that the latter took their stand upon religion. In your letter, which you
have promised, | would like you please to deal with all these questions.

Yours sincerely,

M. K. GANDHI
From a photostat: G. N. 3767

33. LETTERTO MAHOMED ALI

SASSOON HOSPITAL,
POONA,
March 5, 1924

DEAR FRIEND AND BROTHER,

My whole heart goes out to you in your distress. Hayat has
given me a painful account of Amina'sillness.* | read in the paper,
too, that you could not attend the Khilafat Conferencein Sind --that
fact by itself shows how serious the illness must be. God testes usin
many ways. He wants to know how His creature acquits himself in the
presence of calamities he would gladly avoid. | know how you will
come out of the fire, whatever the result. Please comfort Amina on my
behalf and tell her it is well with those who have their trust in God
whether they remain on earth or whether they are taken away. | know
that your brave wife is passing through the ordeal in a manner worthy
of her.

| have read Reuter’s account of the Khilafat resolution in the
Turkish Assembly.? | know that the decision must cause deep grief
and anxiety to you, the more so as domestic sorrow must have, for the
time being, taken up most of your time, but | have always held that,
whilst the future of everything rests in the hands of God, the future of
Islam rests in the hands of the Mussalmans of India.

Yours ever,
M. K. GANDHI
Anmrita Bazar Patrika, 11-3-1924

' H. M. Hayat, of Aligarh National University, wrote to Gandhiji on February
28. Amina, Mahomed Ali’ s daughter, passed away a month later.

® This supported the deposition of the Khalifa and abolition of the Khilafat.
The Indian Muslim delegation to Angora and the Khalifat had been denied passports.
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34. LETTERTO THE NIZAM OF HYDERABAD*

POONA,
March 5, 1924

YOUR EXALTED HIGHNESS,

| am in receipt of Your Exalted Highness's letter of the 1st
instant with reference to your letter to His Excellency the Viceroy in
the matter of the Province of Berar?. Sir Ali Imam was good enough
to send me a copy of his circular letter® enclosing a copy of Your
Highness's letter. But my illness has prevented me from reading the
important document. | am just now attending only to those mattersin
which | have always been specially interested and in which our people
look to me for guidance. | ask your Highness, therefore, to forgive me
for my inability to attend to the question of Berar for the time being.
| remain,
Your Exalted Highness's Faithful friend,

M. K.
GANDHI

From a photostat: S. N. 8428

! This letter seems to have miscarried; vide “ Letter to the Nizam of Hyderabad”,
5-4-1924.

21n this the Nizam had written, inter alia:”| have sent an official letter to His
Excellency the Viceroy asking the Government of Indiato restore to me the province
of Berar. . . | have promised to grant autonomy to the inhabitants of Berar in case
they come under the aegis of my Government as an integral part of the Hyderabad
State. . . | am writing to ask whether, on the broad principle of sympathy for the
aspirations of mankind in general, and a desire for the amelioration of their
condition, you will be able to lend me such support as you can in my present
endeavour.” S.N. 8424.

® In this the Nizam had written, inter alia:”| have sent an official letter to His
Excellency the Viceroy asking the Government of India to restore to me the province
of Berar. . . | have promised to grant autonomy to the inhabitants of Berar in case
they come under the aegis of my Government as an integral part of the Hyderabad
State. . . | am writing to ask whether, on the broad principle of sympathy for the
aspirations of mankind in general, and a desire for the amelioration of their
condition, you will be able to lend me such support as you can in my present
endeavour.” S.N. 8424.

VOL. 27 : 12 JANUARY, 1924 - 21 MAY, 1924 33



35. NOTE ON CORRESPONDENCE!

The result of the correspondence was that the Government at last
gave their reason for prohibiting the visits referred to, viz, it wasin the
public interest that the said visits were prohibited, but that, if in future
| wanted to see anybody in particular, the Superintendent was to send
the name or names to the Government. | may add that to the last
moment the names of all who wanted to see me had to be submitted to
the Government. In spite of the Government statement, in my case and
[in the case of] those who were in the same block with me, the
Superintendent had no discretion to grant permission to visitors, which
he had in the case of all the other prisoners.

Young India, 6-3-1924

36. COMMENT ON PRISON CONDITIONS >

For reason | do not wish to enter into at this stage, | am unable
to publish further correspondence in this matter. But | may state that |
was permitted to see two of the leading hunger-strikers in the presence
of the Superintendent of the Jail and the Inspector-General of Prisons.
The result was that Messrs Dastane and Dev, the two prisoners,
appreciated the moral argument | advanced, and at once broke their
long fast. The Government, after investigating the cause of flogging
and surrounding circumstances, issued instructions that no flogging
was to be administered by the Jail Superintendent without previous
sanction from the Government except in the case of assault by
prisoners upon Jail officials, or like conduct. | have observed that
exaggerated reports were published about the conduct of Major
Whitworth Jones, then Superintendent, and that he was described as an
inhumane Superintendent, and his conduct as inhuman. Whilst, in my
opinion, the flogging in question was a grave error of judgment on
the part of the Superintendent, it was nothing more. Major Jones was
often hasty but so far as| am aware never heartless. On the contrary,
[in] al | saw of him and heard about him from those prisoners with

' This was published under “Letter to Jail Superintendent, Yeravda’
16-4-1923. The other letters sent by Gandhiji to the Jail authorities are placed in
their chronological order.

?  This was published under “Letter to Jail Superintendent, Yeravda’
29-6-1923.
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whom | came in contact, he was a most sympathetic Superintendent,
ever willing to listen to the prisoners and to take severe notice of the
subordinates who in any way ill-treated them. He was ever willing to
admit his mistakes[] arare quality in an official. At the same time he
was a disciplinarian, and a hasty disciplinarian is often likely to make
mistakes. The two floggings of satyagrahis were such mistakes. They
were of the head, not of the heart. The fact is that the powers of
indiscriminate flogging should never have been vested in the hands of
Superintendents of Jails. They were taken away none too soon. A
detailed examination of the prison administration and of these
floggings must be reserved for afurther occasion.

Young India, 6-3-1924

37. COMMENT ON PRISON REGULATIONS!

This letter was written as a result of His Excellency’s visit at
which | discussed with him, when he pressed me as to whether | had
anything to say, the question of Special Division. | told him in effect
that, in my opinion, the Special Division Regulations were an eyewash
and were designed merely to deceive the public into thinking that
something was done to accord to the political prisoners a treatment
that their general upbringing rendered necessary. But the Governor
told me with the greatest assurance that he had no authority
whatsoever in law to bring rigorous-imprisonment prisoners within the
Special Division. And when | ventured to question the accuracy of his
legal knowledge, he told me he ought to know inasmuch as he had
framed the regulations himself. | was amazed at the industry of a
Governor who went so much into details as even to draw up
regulations] a work that is generally left to legal officers. Although
my knowledge of law has become rusty for lack of use, in spite of the
authoritative manner in which the Governor spoke, | could not
reconcile myself to the fact that the law had given the Government
powers to specialy classify only simple-imprisonmentd and not
hard-labour(] prisoners, and that it gave no discretion to the
Government to reduce sentences. Hence the foregoing letter. The
reply received was that H.E. was mistaken about the law and that the
Government had the necessary powers, but that in spite of that

! These observations were made by Gandhiji while publishing in Young India
his “Letter to Governor of Bombay”, 15-8-1923.
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discovery he could not see his way to revise the regulations so as to
include all political prisoners, whether undergoing simple or rigorous
imprisonment. My suspicion, therefore, that the Special Division Reg-
ulations were a mere eyewash became, | am sorry to say, confirmed.

Young India, 6-3-1924

38. COMMENT ON LETTER TO JAIL SUPERINTENDENT,

YERAVDA!

The reader is warned not to read a meaning into the letter which
it was never intended to bear. The letter is only published in order to
explain the incident referred to in the letter, as it has been the subject
matter of much talk and speculation. And as the renunciation of fruit
is said to have hastened my collapse, it is necessary to make it clear
that it was in no way a protest against the Superintendent’s refusal to
grant Mr. Abdul Gani’ s request. Moreover, Mr. Abdul Gani had the
right under the Special Division regulations to send for fruit and any
other food that he wanted. But he, Mr. Yagnik and | had come to the
conclusion that it would not be proper for usto send for food from
outside. The authorities could, therefore, be in no way blamed for the
consequence of my abstention. The Superintendent as well as the
Inspector-General of Prisons pleaded with me to desist from enforcing
my decision. They warned me of the possible serious consequences of
abstention, but for the peace of my mind, | had to take the risk. And
after all the seriousillness | have gone through, | do not feel sorry that
| took the step | did. Nor should the reader in any way blame Mr.
Abdul Gani for having asked for a change of his diet. He asked for it
after full consultation with me, and | approved of the change not
knowing that the regulations would not allow the Superintendent to
grant the changed diet. | was misled into thinking so because, as stated
in the letter, Mr. Yagnik and other fellow-prisoners were allowed by
the previous Superintendent to change their diet from time to time.
When | decided to renounce fruit after the refusal to Mr. Abdul Gani,
he tried his utmost to dissuade me from the course, but it was not
possible for me to forgo the experiment until it was absolutely clear to
me that fruit was necessary for my constitution.

Young India, 6-3-1924

! This was published along with “Letter to Jail Superintendent, Y eravda’,
12-11-1923.
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39. MESSAGE TO DELHI PROVINCIAL POLITICAL

CONFERENCE!

POONA,

[On or before March 7, 1924]

Y our Conference has no more important work before it than the

promotion of Hindu-Moslem unity. It will be like bam to my

troubled heart to know that Hindu and Moslem members of the

Conference have resolved with God as witness never to distrust each

other, but are prepared to die for one another. May God guide you all
right.

From amicrofilm: S.N. 10366

40. LETTER TO MAHADEV DEXAI

[Before March 8, 1924]?

BHAISHRI MAHADEV,

| cannot restrain myself from writing to you after reading your
letter to Krishnadas. Y our complaint is literally true. The questions
you have raised did occur to me. But, being an invalid, | could not do
more. Having got ready at the last moment, | naturally could not leave
instructions. | ought to have given you instructions about the red and
green lines. So also about numbers. The numbers were changed twice.
Y ou must have, therefore, read two figures, 8622 as 827. | don't
remember if it was 8622 or some other number.

Devdas is industrious, but lazy in writing letters. | think one who
writes abad hand is slow to write letters. Pyarelal is a day-dreamer and
lacks energy. Krishnadas is still a newcomer and nervous; you cannot
take from him any urgent work. In these circumstances, you have to
put up with the discontent prevailing there.

Let me give you the gist of my talk with Motilalji. He remained
firm in his view favouring Council-entry, but could not convert me. |
too could not convert him. He, Hakimji and the others will come to

' The Fourth Delhi Provincial Political Conference was held on March 7 and
8, 1924, at Meerut under the presidentship of Asaf Ali.

> This was written before March 8, i.e., Saturday preceding March 11, when
Gandhiji reached Bombay.
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meet me again in the last week of this month*. At present some Sikh
leaders are here for consultation. | am having discussions with them. |
shall let you know the result after the discussions are over. Andrews,
of coursg, is here. Jairamdas, Rajagopal achari and Shankerlal are also
here. In fact, Jairamdas has been here nearly for ten days. |1 shall
probably go to Juhu next Saturday, though it is not definite. My
going will depend on the condition of the wound. | do hope you will
not publish anything from my lettersin the papers. Most probably |
shall write to you at least once a week.

Now there are no more Jail letter to be given in Young India, |
cannot say when | shall be able to write down my experiences [in Jail].

How is Mani? Tell her, that, if she keepson beingill, | shall have
to put myself to the trouble of writing to her. She ought to get well
even to save me from this labour.

Blessing from
BAPU
From the Gujarati original: S.N. 8443

41. LETTER TO MAGANLAL GANDHIN

Saturday [March 8, 1924]?

CHI. MAGANLAL,

One statement in your letter worries me. Y ou said that, owing to
fear of thieves, you have to keep half awake. How long can you carry
on like this? If we cannot get a good watchman, we should arrange
among ourselves to keep watch by turns. The more essential thing,
however, is that we should give up all our jewellery altogether. No one
in the Ashram or in the school should have with him even a grain of
gold or silver. | was shocked to read Hanumantrao’s* letter received a
couple of days ago. Do you know what happened to his wife? Read
the letter | am enclosing. No wonder if a similar thing occurs in the
Ashram. One needs no ornament for the ear. For the wrists on may
have very pretty shell-bangles. We should reduce, as much as possible,
our other possessions too and live without fear, and not worry if these

' They met Gandhiji again on March 29. The discussions with Motilal Nehru
and other swargjist leaders lasted several days.

% Gandhiji arrived at Juhu on Tuesday, March 11. The preceding Saturday fell
on March 8.

® Member, Servants of India Society.
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things are stolen. we should also approach people in the neighboring
villages. Y ou have already done this. Y ou may speak to them again if
you think that necessary. All the three coursesl] watch, reducing of
possessions and appeals to the villagesl should be adopted simul-
taneously.

Please let me know in Juhu about Radha's' health. | intend
sending for her there if circumstances permit and if she can undertake
the journey.

Ramdas is much unsettled in mind. He is very unhappy. Take
him under your care. Let him have your sympathy without talking
about the cause of his suffering. Ask Surendra or someone else who
has the time to keep him company. If he does not go there on some
work, please invite him to do so. Thisis only a suggestion. Do what
you can in the circumstances there.

| shall most probably reach Juhu on Tuesday. The wound is still
bleeding alittle.

Blxessings from
BAPU
From the Gujarati original: C.W. 6042 Courtesy: Radhabehn Choudhri

42. LETTER TO MAGANLAL GANDHI

[After March 8, 1924]>

CHI, MAGANLAL,
1.  Pleasewriteto the Mahajan about the dogs if you have not yet
done so.

2. Consult the watchman about the thefts.

3.  Think over the suggestion about someone going to the neigh-
boring villages.

4.  Just as attending prayers is compulsory, so too is coming to the
dining-room at 10.45.

From the Gujarati original: C.W. 6043. courtesy “Radhabehn Choudhri

! Addressee’ s daughter
> Presumably, this was written as a reminder to the preceding item dated March
8, 1924.
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43. ADVICE TO AKALIS

[March 9, 1924]>
1. In my opinion, in order to bring the whole of the Akali
movement to successful issue, it is absolutely necessary that their
minimum should be unmistakably stated. This alone can evoke
universal approval and sympathy, provided that the minimum is just
and reasonable in the sense that it appeal s to the reason of a common-
sense, godfearing man. It will not, therefore, do to say that a particular
claimisareligious claim. All religious claims must necessarily appeal
to reason.

In a movement of non-violence, the minimum is also the
maximum, just as the minimum is not capable of reduction even
though the difficulties may be insurmountable, similarly under
favourable weather, there can be no addition to the minimum.

This folows from the fact that non-violence incccludes truth and
truth admits of no expedients

2. It is, therefore, necessary for the S.G.P.C. to date the
implications of the Gurdwara movement, i.e which gurdwaras are
claimed by the Akalis to be historical or otherwise falling within the
movement and without which an Akali, to be true to his faith, may not
rest. Second, what are the implications with reference to the present
Akhand Path affair in the Gangsar Gurdwara.®

Third, what is the movement in connection with the forced
abdication or deposition of the Maharaja of Nabha.

3. Inmy opinion, with reference to the gurdwaras, the mode of
procedure should be, in the case of disputed possession, (i) through
private impartial arbitration without reference to or intervention of the
present courts of law; (ii) where the opposite party refuses to submit
to reason or arbitration, by satyagraha, i.e., non-violent mode of ass-
erting S.G.P.C.’sright to possession. In order that the method is and

! Recitation from the Granth Saheb had been going on at Gangsar Gurdwara
near Jaiton since October 1923. Every day a batch of 25 Sikhs was sent to the
Gurdwarafor the reading of Granth Saheb and was promptly arrested.

> The source carried, a the end, a paragraph which forms a part of the
following item bearing this date. It appears that both the items are of the same date.

® Recitation from the Granth Saheb had been going on at Gangsar Gurdwara
near Jaiton since October 1923. Every day a batch of 25 Sikhs was sent to the
Gurdwara for the reading of Granth Saheb and was promptly arrested.
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remains strictly non-violent throughout, it is not enough that there is
absence of active violence, but it is necessary that there is not the
slightest show of force.

It follows, therefore, that alarge body of men cannot be deputed
to assert the right of S.G.P.C." s possession, but one or at the most two
men of undoubted integrity, spiritual force and humility may be
deputed to assert the right. The result of this is likely to be the
martyrdom of these pioneers. My conviction is that from that moment
the possession of the Committee is assured, but it may so happen that
martyrdom is postponed and intermediate stages such as pinpricks,
serious assault or imprisonment might have to be suffered. In that case
and in every case till actual control is secured, there must be ceaseless
stream of devotees in single or double file visiting the gurdwara in
assertion of the right of the Committee. It is hardly necessary for me
to point out that, if the possessor for the time being may consent to
submit to arbitration, the Committee should be ever ready to accept
the offer when the asserting of the right by means of satyagraha
ceases. In such a case, it goes without saying that if there are any of
the devotees who have been imprisoned in prosecution of the object
of the Committee, they should be discharged simultaneously with the
acceptance of the arbitration.

NABHA

| understand the position regarding the Nabha State to be as
follows-and as explained by the Akali friends who have been kindly
sent by the S.G.P.C. for the purpose:

1 The S.G.P.C. contends that the Maharaja has been forced to
abdicate, that there is no sufficient warrant for the step and that the
Committee isin a position to prove that the Maharaja has been forced
to abdicate not because of the charges vaguely referred to by the
Viceroy or of any other charges such as would justify the extreme
punishment, but for his public-spritedness exhibited on severa
occasions and for his known active sympathy for the Akali cause. The
Committee invitesan open and impartial enquiry by a competent
authority into the whole case before which the S.G.P.C. should have
the right to give evidence and the Committee would be satisfied with
the findings of such an enquiry. It has been suggested that the Nabha
Maharaja has voluntarily abdicated in consideration for the Govern-
ment suppressing certain charges which they hold are of an extremely
damnatory character. If the Maharaja’'s own writing can be produced
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in proof of the statement, the Committee will naturally have nothing
further to say. Such a writing should be given by the Maharagja
without any veiled pressure from the Government and should be a
fresh document. The Committee have no desire at present for any
direct action. At the same time, it is but fair to say that if all the
efforts at impartial enquiry for obtaining strict justice fail and when
the public have been put in possession of all the facts known to the
Committee and public opinion has been fully matured and cultivated,
the Committee may be reluctantly compelled as a matter of honour
and chivalry to resort to direct action. No mention, however, of direct
action will be made in any manifesto stating the Committee’s position
regarding Nabha that may be issued by the Committee.

The above position appears to me to be unexceptionable and |
heartily endorse it.

SHAHIDI JATHA

Had it been possible for me to have met the Akali friends before
the Jatha which is now on its way to Jaiton had started, | would, even
after having heard all that the friends had to say, have adhered to my
advice that it should not be sent before perfect stock-taking and a
review of the whole situation, but | wish to cast no blame on anyone
for the delay in the friends meeting me or, if there is any blame to be
attached to anybody, | must take it upon my own shoulders because |
omitted to take the precaution of wiring the full text of my message to
S.G.P.C. at the same time that | handed it to the representative of the
Associated Press. | was under the mistaken belief that Press messages
having precedence of private messages the A.P. message would be
earlier in the hands of the Committee. | foolishly wanted to save
public money. Could | be present in the Punjab and see things face to
face, | would not hesitate, even though the Jatha is nearing its
destination, to tender my advice for itsrecall in order to enable us to
review the situation, to take certain steps which | hold are necessary
before taking further direct action, but | cannot undertake the res-
ponsibility, lying on a sick-bed, of advising the recall. | dare not place
such as burden on the friends who have come to discuss the Gurdwara
affair with me. In the circumstances, therefore, | fear that Jatha must
be allowed to proceed to its destination. | understand that elaborate
precautions have been taken to prevent admiring crowds or others
from following or accompanying the Jatha. | understand too that
strictest instructions have been issued to the Jatha to adopt and con-
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tinue a perfectly non-violent attitude in spite of the gravest provo-
cation. Thisis all to the good.

But | understand further that the Jatha has also been instructed,
in the event of its receiving orders, to leave the State boundary to
disobey and, arm in arm, the Jatha has been instructed to present a
solid living wall to the State soldiery and to draw upon their devoted
heads with unflinching courage the fire that can be poured upon
them. The ideais no longer to submit to pinpricks and prolongation
of the agony by way of forcible deportation, but to end it by every
member of the Jatha sitting at his post and dying there with cam
resignation without any retaliation. This plan is conceived in a most
lofty and daring spirit. The bravery of who conceived it and still
greater bravery of those who are expected to carry it out in its entirety
cannot be questioned and, if the Nabha authorities are so foolish as to
fire upon the Jatha till everyone lies dead at his post, it will certainly
stagger humanity, thrill the world and command universal applause
for matchless heroism, but | am sorry to say it could not be recorded
as an at of non-violence. This proposed action can be described as
civil disobedience, but in reality it would not be civil disobedience, for
civil disobedience [is] perfect submission to orders which are given as
punishments for the breach of primary orders which a civil resister
holds against conscience to obey. But such disobedience to be civil
requires perfect obedience to be sanctions small or great, and dis-
obedience of smaller sanctions in order to invite larger sanctionsis not
civil but is rowdy and therefore violent. The faith of the civil resister
must be aliving faith in the ultimate success of the spirit of suffering
and forbearance. Infinite patience must, therefore, be our badge.

Let us now apply this principle to the proposed action: to sit
tight in the face of an order of deportation or an imprisonment in
order to invite shooting is to avoid the intermediate sanctions and the
possibilities of prolongation of slow suffering and also the struggle.
Such avoidance is not permissiblein civil disobedience; it is calculated
to give an excuse to the opponent that they are not non-violent. The
natural course would be to obey the order of deportation when it is
accompanied by physical force, be it ever so slight. Therefore, even if
ayoungster duly authorized came to enforce the order of deportation,
500 strong men would in honour be bound meekly and joyously to
march out with a young deporting officer whom by the heroic
forbearance the 500 are likely to convert into a friend. Once put
across the border, the right of marching back and be treated similarly
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or worse accrues to the 500. The idea underlying meek suffering is
that ultimately it is bound to melt the stoniest heart. It further deprives
disobedience of the slightest trace of violence either active or passive.

| wish to analyse the proposed action still further. What is the
locking up of arms of the whole Jatha, if it is not passive violence? It is
clear that such a solid wall cannot be broken by one man, whereas the
creed of non-violence presupposes that a move of violence by the
opponent is enough for him to push back a crowd of 20,000 non-
violent men.

If, therefore, the Committee accept all the implication of non-
violence, | am firmly of opinion, instructions already given as to the
action to be taken by the Jahta when it comes in conflict with
authority should be revised in terms of what | have sketched above. In
that event, only one or the other thing can happen, either the 500 will
be deported or imprisoned. But, in both the cases, the act will have
been performed with complete meekness on our side. | know the
difficulties of following the procedure. The authorities may endlessly
continue the seesaw business in order to tire us out. But this difficulty
vanishes if we, as a body, claim to be incapable of being tired out.
Non-violence, depending as it does on an unquenchable faith in God
and in the persistence only of that which is good, does not know what
it isto be defeated or to be tired out. If the plan suggested by meis
adopted, any number of men may march in and at any time of the
day. It will be found in practice that no authority can possibly afford
to play the game of seesaw with a people so determined. So much
regarding the Jatha now on the march. When the present manoeuvre is
finished, | would suggest a review of the whole situation. So far as |
know, the aim of the Akhand Path movement is to assert the right of
the community to have Akhand Path in the place [of] that which was
interrupted on the. . . * and to vindicate the right to have the Akhand
Path as often as the community considrs it necessary. The authorities
state that they do not wish to prvent the Akhand Path ceremony, but
they will not allow under its cover the massing of alarge number of
Sikhs from outside who may carry on open or secret propaganda
regarding the Nabha Maharaja and thus create and keep up the
ferment in the State. In order to meet this objection, | would advise the
Committee to make a declaration in the clearest possible terms that the

' The date is not given in the source. It is, however, likely that this is
February 21, 1924; vide “Open Letter to Akalis’, 25-2-1924.
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object of the Jatha is purely to assert the af orementioned right, that it
has no desire to carry on, under cover of the Akhand Path ceremony,
any political propagandain the Nabha State, whilst the Committee in
no way binds itself to refrain from pressing forward the claims of the
Nabha Mahargja and agitating for the Nabha question. But that
agitation will stand on its merits and will have no connection with the
Akhand Path affair. The Committee will also in that case be satisfied
with sending a Jatha of 25 without in any way admitting the right of
the State to limit the number. It would be purely avoluntary act with a
view to disarming suspicion.

But If my advice is accepted, for the time being no Jatha will be
dispatched, but negotiations should be athird party with the State
authorities with a view to clearing away misunderstanding and
removing the deadlock.

If, then, the sending of a Jatha of 500 is suspended for the time
being and the declaration sketched above is made, it opens the way for
athird party to negotiate with the authorities with a view to removing
the deadl ock.

GURDWARA REFORM MOVEMENT

In connection with the Gurdwara movement | am asked to state
the procedure that, in my opinion, should be adopted prior to the
direct action sketched in the foregoing notes. The first thing is to state
the case fully and publicly as to the conditions of the Gurdwara's
mismanagement, e.g. character of the occupant, etc., or notices should
also be served on the occupant stating the position of the Committee
and asking him to submit to its jurisdiction and control, and
informing him that, in the event of his wishing to contest the
Committee’ s possession, the latter would be willing to submit the case
to arbitration. The names of the arbitrator or arbitrators on behalf of
the Committee should be given in the notice and, in the event of the
occupant ignoring the notice or decclining to submit to arbitration,
the Committee would be free to take direct action'.

With reference to the Gurdwaras already possessed by the
S.G.P.C., as amatter of truth and justice, | am convinced that, if the
party dispossessed disputes this right of the S.G.P.C. to the possession,
the Committee should be ready [to] have the matter reopened and
settled by arbitration. But | recognize that it would be dangerous and

' In the source, the following footnotes are given to this paragraph: 1. “Truth
and non-violence,” and 2. “A word to Pandit Malaviya.”
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detrimental to the best interest of the Committee to make any such
public announcement at the present moment and whilst the Govern-
ment istrying its best to injure the Committee and in every way
interfere with its activity. With reference to the Gurdwaras claimed
to be historical, the only thing, so far as | can see, the Committee
can be reasonably expected to do is to prove the historical
nature and, If it satisfies the arbitration regarding it its possession must
rest with or rest in the Committee without any further proof being
necessary regarding any other matter.*

M. K. GANDHI
From a photostat: G. N. 3769

44. INTERVIEW TO ASSOCIATED PRESS

[March 9, 1924]

I had long and cordial conversations with the Akali friends. In
the course of the conversations, | tendered to them my opinion on the
several matters under discussion. The public will not expect me to
divulge the matters discussed between us or the opinion given by me,
but | am free to state this, that the Akali friends told me that my letter
was not received by the Shiromani Gurdwara Prabandhak Committee
with apathy, and they satisfied me that, under the circumstances, it
gave it all the consideration. Unfortunately, my letter was seen by
them in the Press so late that they were unable to do more than they
did in the matter.® My friends informed me to my surprise that there
was a general misapprehension in the Punjab that, after the Nankana
tragedy | had expressed an opinion that the Gurdwara movement
should have been postponed till after the attainment of swarajya and
that my recent letter was intended to renew that opinion. | never once
expressed the opinion attributed to me, as can be amply verified from
my writings and speeches of the time. My recent letter* was merely an

' In the source here follows a paragraph which forms part of G. N. 3768; vide
the following item..

2 Gandhiji made this statement to the representative of the Associated Press
who called on him to ascertain the result of the week-long discussions between him
and the Akali deputation led by Sardar Mangal Singh in regard to Akali activities.

® The text that follows is also available from a handwritten, signed draft, dated
March 9. G.N. 3768

* Vide “Open Letter to Akalis’, 25-2-1924.
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advice to suspend and not necessarily to stop altogether the sending of
the then impending Shahidi Jatha till after deliberation with a
Committee of non-Sikh friends, and full introspection and searching
of the heart.

From a photostat: G.N. 3768 and 3769; also The Bombay Chronicle,
11-3-1924

45, TELEGRAM TO KONDA VENKATAPPAYYA
[Before March 10, 1924]

SRIRAMULU? FASTING AT NELLORE UNDER MY  ADVICE FOR
OPENING A TEMPLE TO HARIJANS. PLEASE GO |IF PHYSICALLY
ABLE OR SEND SOMEONE AND DO WHAT IS PROPER. | HAVE
CONFLICTING ~ WIRES.*WIRE POONA.

From a photostat: 117A

46. MESSAGE TO KHADI EXHIBITION, BOMBAY *

March 10, 1924

It is beyond doubt that exhibitions of pure khadi are very useful
in propagating khadi. But how strange it is that we still have to hold
khadi exhibitions! If anyone talks of holding an exhibition to
propagate our country’s wheat and bajra, we consider him an idiot. Is
khadi, then, less useful than wheat and bajra? |If we do not wish to eat
oats imported from Scotland in place of our wheat and bajra, why do
we then insult khadi by importing and wearing cloth from Manchester
or Japan? Every patriot and everyone who loves his or her religion
must consider this point. We shall surely remain under foreign rule as
long as we cannot do without foreign cloth. It is strange that compli-

! This telegram was evidently sent from Poona before March 10 when Gandhiji
left for Bombay.

2 Potti Sriramulu Naidu, once an inmate of Sabarmati Ashram, started his fast
on March 7 for securing Harijans' entry to the Venugopalaswami Temple at Mulapet.
In 1952, he fasted unto death in connection with the formation of an Andhra State.

® Earlier, a Press report had described Sriramulu’ s condition as weak, and stated
that the managing trustee of the temple had tried to persuade him to break the fast on
the assurance that he would try and induce this co-trustees to throw the temple open to
Harijans.

* Read out by Kasturba Gandhi after declaring open the exhibition at Mandvi,
Bombay.
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cated arguments appeal to us rather than this simple one. and until we
all learn to take to the royal road of khadi, hand-woven from hand-
spun yarn, we have to continue holding khadi exhibitions. Hence |
wish all success to the exhibition at Mandvi.

[From Guijarati]

Gujarati, 16-3-1924

47 FAREWELL SPEECH, POONA!

March 10, 1924

In making a speech, | am respectfully disregarding Col.
Maddock’ s instructions. But if did not speak, | would be doing him
an injustice. Ever since he was sent by Government to examine mein
Y eravda Jail, Col. Maddock has become my friend. | was reluctant to
have an operation, but was so impressed by him that | had to trust him
completely. | have full faith in his skill. Of course, it is not for me to
give him atestimonial, but the fact of his skill remains. | hope Col.
Maddock will devote his leisure hours to the cause of humanity
wherever he goes.

Non-violent non-co-operation means goodwill and sympathy
towards everyone. | would feel pained if | heard it said that | had ill
will towards any person. The pain would persist even after my death. |
thank all those who have helped me. Y ou have assured me that you
will wear swadeshi clothes. This assurance gives me great pleasure.
Swadeshi does not mean ill will towards anybody. May God grant
long life and prosperity to Col. and Mrs. Maddock wherever they may
be.

[From Guijarati]

Gujarati, 16-3-1924

! Delivered before the students of the B. J. Medical School, Col. Maddock and
other members of the Hospital staff who had met to bid farewell to Gandhiji.
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48. TELEGRAM TO GHANSHYAM JETHANAND!*

[On or after March 10, 1924]

PLEASE CONVEY LATE MR. BHURGRI'S FAMILY RESPECTFUL
CONDOLENCES. INDIA HAS LOST IN HIM  SINCERE PATRIOT.

GANDHI
From a photostat: S. N. 8466

49. LETTERTO G. D. BIRLA?

[After March 11, 1924]°

Keep your body fit. Then only can | take sufficient work from
you and give you some more still.

Take milk at least for fifteen days, if you think you need it. Eat
fruit, roti will do you harm. Take curds without fail.

Y our pronunciation is no doubt bad, but do not worry much
over that. English is not our language. The way the French pronounce
[it] is very bad, but no Englishman ever complains about it.

From the Hindi original in Gandhiji’s hand: C.W. 5999. Courtesy: G. D. Birla

50. INTERVIEW TO “ STEAD’ SREVIEW’
[After March 11, 1924]*

| begged Gandhi to continue his simple meal, tended by an Indian nurse, and he
munched an orange while he talked. People came and went silently all the time.
Admiring countrymen who flocked to Andheri( often at great inconvenience and

' This was in reply to Ghanshyam Jethanand's telegram to Jairamdas
Doulatram, dated March 10, 1924, which read: “Bhurgri expired last night.”

? Ghanshyam Das Birla; industrialist and philanthropist who gave financial
assistance for Gandhiji’s schemes of social welfare; member, Second Round Table
Conference, 1931.

® Thisisthe earliest available letter to G. D. Birla. Its exact date is not
ascertainable. It is, however, likely that it was written from Bombay. Gandhiji
arrived at Juhu, a sea-side suburb of Bombay, on March 11 and stayed there till may
28 to recoup his health. This and the several letters that follow were written from Juhu
during this period, though some of them carry the postal address: Andheri, another
neighbouring suburb.

* The exact date of this interview is not available. It took place at Juhu,
Bombay: some time after March 11, 1924.
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expensel] to behold their revered leader, made obeisance and withdrew. Others who
listened at respectful distance drank in every word that fell from his lips, fervent
approval shining in their dark eyes. Y et though the audience gradually swelled to
quite fifty, our conversation was never interrupted by so much as a cough. Thus was
the naturally loguacious Indian overawed by the presence of his venerated Mahatma.

“Mr. Gandhi.” | said, “I am going to ask you ten questions. Y ou will, of cou-
rse, reply or decline to answer at your will. Now, why do you make such a feature of
preaching home-spinning to Indians? Is it because you hold that India’s economic
dependence contributes to its political dependence?” Gandhi declared without
hesitation:

Absolutely, when Indians were spinning and weaving their own
cotton, they were well off and happy. From the day on which they
attempted to sell their cotton to Lancashire, and buy their cloth from
Lancashire, they have become increasingly lazy and poor, 85 per cent
of India’s population loafs now for 4 months in the year. Foreign
cloth has made a nation of idlers and beggars. The charkha (spinning-
wheel) will restore to the villager not only prosperity, but also self-
respect and hope. For the last fifty years Indians have been losing
hope. The charkha is a symbol of a new life which will save them
from despair.

Then you put home-spinning even above the crying need of elementary
education of your masses?

Why should | wait for my country to be educated in the
European sense, before saving it from starvation? Do you know that at
least one-third of our 350,000,000 are chronically underfed? They
want bread and butter before education. Besides, it is open to question
whether Western education would benefit Indians any way. We were
happy and prosperous in the old days, without education. We are
wretched and poor today, amidst all the vaunted blessings of English
civilization. No, | find no difficulty in spreading my gospel of the
charkha through lack of understanding. The illiterate villagers
welcome the spinning-wheel like a ray of heavenly hope. It is the
shortage of trained instructors which hampers our propaganda.

| asked Mr. Gandhi whether he considered the Indian masses ripe for Home
Rule.

Certainly, for that kind of Home Rule which | understand under
swargj. But nobody, not even the English people, can “give” us
swargj. We can only giveit to ourselves. Home Rule, on the pattern of
the Australian or Canadian constitutions, is not swargj. Still, it will be
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infinitely superior to our present state of servitude. If Britain is
unwilling to give to us complete independence, | would welcome and
accept Home Rule. And | say India is certainly able to enter the
British community of nations on that footing.

What is your answer to the generally accepted theory of the advocates of the
present political system that India could not rule herself because of the irreconcilable
differences of her castes, religions and tribes? Mr. Gandhi smiled.

Of course, there are differences. No nation is without them. The
United Kingdom was born amidst the Wars of the Roses. Probably we,
too, shall fight. But, when we are tired of breaking each other’s heads,
we shall discover that, despite the disparities of our races and religions,
we can live together, just as the Scotch and Welsh manage to live
together. The gravest of India’s admitted abuses and prejudices, such
as that fatal theory of untouchability of certain Hindu castes, will
disappear when the people are emancipated.

Would Indian Home Rule give universal suffrage to the masses?

Practically. | mean that every citizen desirous of vote would get
a vote. | do not see the use of compulsory enrolment without
compulsory voting. Votes of people who must be driven to the poll
are of questionable value. My idea is to open enrolling depots all over
the country where those desiring to vote can register their names on
payment of a small feeld just enough to make the voting machinery
self-supporting. | am convinced that we shall obtain in this way
popular mandates as intelligent as in any other country.

I's there not this danger, in a country like India, that released from British
restraint, the small intelligentsia of Bengalis, Brahmins, etc., might seize the reins
of Government to their own aggrandizement, and the utter enslavement of their
ignorant countrymen? Such things, as you are aware, were not unknown in the history
of India.

But what makes you anticipate them in these days? What power
could such usurpers command today to enslave the people? They
would have no army, none of the impregnable entrenchment of the
English in this country. Why, if any Indians tried to endave the
people, they would tear them to pieces.

Next to homespinning, Mr. Gandhi, what do you counsel your countrymen to
do to attain swargj?

We must get rid of the unsympathetic domination by aforeign
people who only come here to drain our wedth. | have nothing
against the English individually. They probably treat us as well as any
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other foreign nation would. Of course, there are many minor
irritations, inseparable from foreign rule. But our greatest grievance
against the English is that they have steadily impoverished India. If
Englishmen living in India became loyal, useful citizens of this
country, as they became in Australia or South Africa, | should
welcome them as my brothers. But they only come here to exploit my
people, and to draw the substance from the land. After a century of
this steady drain, we are nearing exhaustion. We must either stop this
drain, or lose the last traces of our one-time greatness and culture.
That iswhy | ask the English to go away. | am certain we can force
them to go, by non-co-operation, without violence. The English may
pass laws, but they cannot force us to obey them. They may prescribe
taxes, but they can compel only comparatively few to pay them. non-
co-operation and non-violence are more potent weapons than guns.

Still, guns have their uses. Mr. Gandhi, you may deprecate them because they
are not at your disposal. If you had arms, would you consider yourself justifie in using
them to drive out the English?

Heaven forbid! Contemplate the carnage and misery wrought by
the small nations of Europe during the late War, and then, imagine the
terrible consequences of 30 crores of Indians seizing arms! Besides,
force never settles one single problem. Behold the present plight of
Europe after such a “settlement” by force! We have no right to use
force even against our oppressors; but it is our duty to refuse to help
them to oppress us further. That is why we must not co-operate with
the English till they co-operate with us.

Y ou have studied and travelled much, Mr. Gandhi, and must admit that India
would have fared worse under any but British rule, that England has shown much
patience and forbearance under many provocations. What more would you have the
English do?

The whole of our demands can be compressed into one word,
Retire! And if you are not yet willing to retire completely, give us at
least the autonomy of your self-governing dominions. We have
enough common sense to prefer the half loaf to no bread at all. But if
we are to join the family of British nations, we demand a say, not only
in our own affairs, but in those of the whole Empire, in proportion to
our population. In other words, we shall expect the centre of Imperial
interests to be shifted to India, as its most populous component. Any
member of the Empire objecting to this change would have the
remedy of leaving the Commonwealth of British nations.
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As aman of the world you realize that the English are not likely to relinquish,
at your mere bidding, their enormous interest, material and political, which they have
built up in India by so much labour and sacrifice. How do you picture to yourself the
practical fulfilment of your aims? Do you believe that your own efforts, or outside
pressure, will eventually bring about your liberation?

Our own efforts can and will end any foreign rule. If all my
people understood and practised the true doctrine of non-co-
operation and non-violence, we should have swarg tomorrow. It
would descend to us as from Heaven. Indians being frail, like other
mortals, we shall have to wait. But our lesson is going home to the
remotest villages, and every spinning-wheel that hums in a mud
cottage is bringing us nearer our inevitable liberation.

One question more. How do you view Australia’s virtual embargo against
Asiatics?

| cannot understand this short-sighted policy of a nation which |
otherwise admire. It is bad on economic, ethical and political grounds.
But | admit that | have not given much attention to Australia's
problems. I am too much engrossed in Indian affairs. Therefore, |
would not like to express more than my personal, unauthoritative
opinion on a question which | have not studied.*

The Searchlight, 27-6-1924

51. LETTER TO MRS MADDOCK

POST ANDHERI,
March 14, 1924

DEAR MRS. MADDOCK?,
Hereisabrief statement of my activities as per my promise:
(1) Removal of the curse of untouchability among the Hindus.
(2) The spread of hand-spinning and hand-weaving and the
advocacy of the use of hand-spun and hand-woven cloth to the
exclusion of all foreign cloth and even cloth woven in Indian mills.
(3) Advocacy of simplelife and, therefore, of the avoidance of
intoxicating drinks and drugs.

! The report of the interview concludes “ This subtle defence precluded any
discussion on a controversial subject. . . Gandhi was visibly tired. . . So | wished my
courteous informant speedy recovery to complete health, shook hands, and went to
ponder over this old new message of non-violence. . .”

? Wife of Col. C. Maddock
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(4) The establishment of unaided national schools both for the
purpose of weaning students from Government institutions as a part of
the Non-co-operation struggle, and of introducing education, inclu-
ding industrial training, in keeping with the national problems.

(5) The promotion of unity amongst Hindus, Mussulmans,
Christians, Parsees, Jews etc.

| carry on these activities through two institutions. The first is an
Ashram near Ahmedabad established in 1916' where all those who
desire to work out these ideals are invited to join. Its expenses are
defrayed out of private contributions made by monied friends who
are interested in the activities named. It has at the present moment
nearly 100 inmates, both male and female, who include severa
families from the so-called untouchable class. There is a carding,
spinning and weaving school and an ordinary literary school attached
to the Ashram. Simple agricultural work also is done there, and an
attempt is being made to grow our own cotton.

The second institution is the National Congress which is a vast
political organization with avery simple but, in my opinion, perfect
constitution. This has adopted practically the whole of the foregoing
programme. It has branches in every part of India and has thousands
of members who elect representatives annually. Payment of 4 annas
and acceptance of the Congress creed entitle an adult male or female
to the membership of the Congress and to vote for the election of
delegates. The Congress naturally has a larger programme of work
than the activities abovenamed, and being a representative body, has
no permanent programme, but can change it from year to year. Its
aim is the attainment of swarajya, that is, self-government, by peaceful
and legitimate means. For the last four years it has sought to attain its
end by non-violent non-co-operation with the Government.

My own motive is to put forth all my energy in an attempt to
save Indian, that is, ancient culture, from impending destruction by
modern, that is, Western culture being imposed upon India. The
essence of ancient culture is based upon the practice of the utmost
non-violence. Its motto is the good of all including every living thing,
whereas Western culture is frankly based upon violence. it therefore,
does not respect all life and, in its progress onward, it has not hesitated

! Thisis adlip. The reference isto the Satyagraha Ashram founded at Kochrab,
near Ahmedabad, on May 20, 1915, and shifted, on the outbreak of plaguein 1917, to
Sabarmati.
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to resort to wholesale destruction of even human life. Its motto is:
Might is Right, and it is essentially individualistic. This does not mean
that there is nothing for Indiato learn from the West, for in spite of
the acceptance by the West of the Doctrine of Might is Right, the
human touch has not atogether disappeared in the West. The
relentless pursuit of afalse ideal conceived as truth has opened the
eyes of numerous men in the West to the falsity of that ideal. | would
like India to copy that spirit of search for the truth in the place of
being satisfied with tradition without question, but India can safely
copy nothing before she has come to her own and realized that her
culture has a very important place in universe and it must be defended
at all costs. The importation of Western culture by the British in
Indian has meant exploitation of her resources for the supposed
benefit of Great Britain. It has brought millions of people to the verge
of starvation, and it has almost emascul ated whole nation.

The foregoing programme is an attempt to prevent the
impending ruin not by Western methods but by Indian methods,
namely, by internal reform and self-purification from the very
bottom. To remove the curse of untouchability isto do penance for
the sin committed by the Hindus of degrading a fifth of their own
religionists. To remove the curse of intoxicating drinks and drugs not
only purifies the nation, but it also deprives an immoral system of
Government of an immoral source of revenue to the extent of nearly
25 crores of rupees. To revive hand-spinning and hand-weaving
brings back to millions of cottages of India their supplementary
industry, revives the old Indian art, removes the degrading pauperism
and provides an automatic insurance against famine. At the same time,
it deprives Great Britain of the strongest incentive for Indian
exploitation, for if India can clothe herself without importing foreign
cloth and foreign machinery, the relations between Great Britain and
India become natural and almost idealistic. They take the form then
of avoluntary partnership resulting in mutual benefit and, probably,
benefit to mankind in general. Unity between the different religionists
of India prevents Great Britain from pursuing the immoral policy of
Divide and Rule, and the practice of non-violence in resisting
exploitation and degradation, if it becomes successful, is likely to
serve as an example for the whole world to copy.

In following out the programme, mistakes and miscal cul ations
have undoubtedly been made. Regrettable incidents have also taken
place, but | make bold to say that no movement in which millions of
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people have taken part has yet taken place with so little bloodshed or
interruption of the ordinary activities of the people.*

I do not know whether | have succeeded in giving you what you
wanted. | have endeavoured to be as brief asit was possible.

Please tell Col. Maddock that it was not without grief that | eft
the hospital. | shall always remember the tender care and attention
bestowed by him upon me. | appreciate the gift of his portrait. My
very best wishes will accompany you during your voyage and stay at
home. | shall prize aline from you or him whenever you think of me
and have the time for writing. The place in which | am housed is most
delightful. The seaisin front of me. The bungalow is surrounded with
the cocoanut palm. The nights are very cool, and generally thereis a
gentle breeze all the day long. Mr. Andrews and | take a walk along
the beautiful sandy beach in Juhu for about half an hour. | fancy that
| shall gain strength day by day.

With kind regards,

Yours sincerely,
[PS]
My permanent address is Sabarmati, near Ahmedabad.

MRS. MADDOCK
POONA

From a photostat: S.N. 8488

! C. F. Andrews released this part of the letter as a statement in the Manchester
Guardian, 24-4-1924, with the following observations, inter alia: “... Thisis, |
believe, the first concise statement of his aims made by Mahatma Gandhi himself that
will have appeared in the English Press. . . . It will come with a surprise to most
people because of its economic rather than political character. The truth is not yet
realized in England that what is being aimed at by Mr. Gandhi is arevolution far more
radical than any mere refusal to enter the Reformed Councils. . . . It appears to have
hidden from view the far deeper and more penetrating change of social and economic
life which is making India a new country, a country that will not merely be a dreary
repetition of the dullness and drabness of the West.” The Searchlight, 18-5-1924
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52. STATEMENT ON POTTI SRIRAMULU’ SFAST

BOMBAY,
March 15, 1924

Shri Sriramulu is an unknown poor Congressman and servant of
humanity working in Nellore. He has been labouring singlehanded
for the cause to the Harijans of that place. There was a time when high
hope was entertained about removal of untouchability and other social
work in Nellore. An ashram was built near Nellore, but for variety of
causes the activity received a set-back. Desabhakta Konda V enkatap-
payyawas, and still is, though very old, the moving spirit in con-
nection with these activities. It isin this place that shri Sriramulu has
been quietly and persistently working for the removal, root and
branch, of untouchability.

He has been trying to have a temple opened to Harijans. He
asked me the other day whether, in order to awaken public conscience
in favour of such opening, he could, if all others efforts failed,
undertake afast. | sent him my approval.

Now the place is astir. But some persons have asked me to adv-
ise Shri Sriramulu to suspend his fast for removing legal difficulties of
which | have no knowledge. | have been unable to give such advice.

As | am anxious that an unobtrusive servant of humanity my not
die for want of public knowledge and support, | bespeak the interest
of the journalists of the South, if not of all India, to find out for
themselves the truth of the matter and, if what | say is borne out by
facts, shame by public exposure the opposing parties into doing the
right and save a precious life.

From a photostat: 117 A
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53. LETTER TO ERVIN BAKTAY

POST ANDHERI,
March 15, 1924

DEAR FRIEND.

| was very glad indeed to receive your letter* of the 8th
February.It pleases me to think that the humble work | am doing in
my own country is being understood and appreciated in Europe and
more so by those who, like my own people, are laouring under
oppression. Though my activity is confined to India, | do share with
you the belief that the means being adopted in India with non-
violence as the corner-stone are of universal application in like
circumstances, and if we achieve our true freedom demonstrably by
non-violent means, the rest of the world will have no difficulty in
putting faith in the invincibility of non-violence in every walk of life.

Yours sincerely,
M. K. GANDHI
ERVIN BAKTAY, ESQ.
11 MESR UTEA 12
BUDAPEST
(HUNGARY)
From the photostat: G.N. 2831 and S.N 8493
! In the course of his letter Ervin Baktay had written: “. . . there are men very

far away from India who have faith in your person and your work. | believe that the
work which is done by you has a great importance for the whole humanity; the West
does not understand it clearly today what your work represents in human history, yet
it can be observed that there are many in the West who have a clear or aless distinct
feeling about it. . . Even in England and France or America there are men who
understood that the Western way of solving great problems by everlasting wars
cannot lead but to a general ruin. And the whole world begins to listen more and more
to India’ s message for mankind and this message is yours. Since several years | study
Indian religion. Philosophy and literature, and | have the conviction that India’'s
thought has a very great importance for humanity. | believe that Rabindranath Tagore
was right in saying: ‘the greatest event of our age was the meeting of East and West in
India.’ Yes, Indiawill pour fresh water into our dried-out wells, for our wells which
were once filled to the brim by another holy water (Christ’s message) were abandoned
by us. Truthisbut one and the truth in the message of the Upanishads, of Buddha, or
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54. LETTERTO A. AVOYSEY

POST ANDHER,
March 15, 1924

DEARMR. VOYSEY,

| thank you for your letter of the 14th February.

Y ou will be glad to know that the wound has healed completely
and that | am now having my convalescence at a seaside retreat. | shall
look forward to the further letter* which you promise. If you are
writing after receipt of this, it will be better to send your letter to my
permanent address, namely, Sabaramati, near Ahmedabad.

Thanking you for your kind thoughts,

Yours sincerely
A.A. VOYSEY, ESQ.
ST. | SDORE
PRESSNICE (FRANCE)
From a photostat: S. N. 8494

55. LETTERTOH. S L. POLAK

POST ANDHERI
March 15, 1924

MY DEAR HENRY ,
| have your letter? enclosing your Note on Kenya and a
newspaper cutting®. | shall read the Note as soon as | have energy
enough for taking up my normal activities. For the time being what |
have of it | devote to only those matters on which | must express an

Christ cannot be different. The words and the forms can differ, but the living essence
is the same. And there is nobody in this world today whose words and deeds could
better express this truth than yours. In you | see the personification fo all truth which
was ever given to mankind.” S.N. 8303

! In this Voysey wrote of “a special aspect of human progress which engages
my thoughts and which you may feel has some bearing on your work in India, though
your work is truly aworld work and for all humanity. Blessed and happy are you.”
S. N. 8329

% Not available

® Ibid.
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opinion without delay. | hope you have received my letter* posted at
Poona. At present | am in Mr. Narottam’s* bungalow near Andheri. It
isdelightfully situated, faces the sea, and the waves wash its boundary.

Mr. Andrews is staying with me. He has been sent by the Poet
specially to keep me company and to look after me. | am permitted to
walk about 30 minutes which | do in the evening.

My loveto you all.
Yours sincerely,

HY. S. L. POLAK, ESQ.
47-48, DANESINN HOUSE
205, STRAND

LONDON, W. C. 2

From a photostat: s. N. 8495

56. LETTER TO ALFRED C. MEYER

POST ANDHER,
March 15, 1924

DEAR FRIEND,
| have your letter of 2-2-1924.

Thereis at present firm of booksellers in Madras known as S.
Ganesan who sell a collection® of most of my articles in a weekly
called Young India and edited by me. It will give you all the infor-
mation that you are likely to desire.

Yours sincerely,
ALFRED C. MEYER, ESQ.
181, VINE AVENUE
HIGHLAND PARK
ILLINOIS, U.S.A.

From a photostat: S.N. 8496

! Not available
% Narottam Morarji, Agent of Scindia Steam Navigation Company
® This refers to the two volumes for 1919-22 and 1922-24.
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57.LETTERTO V. K. SALVEKAR

POST ANDHER!
March 15, 1924

DEAR MR. SALVEKAR?,

| thank you for your letter offering me the use of your
bungalow in Nasik. | know that the climate of Nasik is very salubrious,
but at the present moment | am having my convalescence at a pleasant
seaside retreat near Andheri. If this place does not suit me and | am
advised to go to adry place, | shall bear in mind your kind offer.

Yours sincerely,
V. K. SALVEKAR, ESQ.
HATTIKHANA ROAD
NASK CITY
From a photostat: S.N. 8501
58. LETTERTO S E. STOKES
POST ANDHERI,

March 15, 1924

DEAR FRIEND,
| have your letter of the 7th instant.?

An unknown friend wrote to me that you had asked him to send
me some hill honey, and he kindly sent me 5 Ibs. It was very good
indeed. | understood subsequently that Mohanlal Pandya® had written
to you for hill honey for me. | know that you have | wa then getting
good honey from Mahabaleshwar. During my illness | have been so
overwhelmed with kindness from those whom | knew and those whom
I had never the pleasure of knowing that | feel it was almost worth

! Vishwanath Keshav Salvekar, proprietor of Sardar Griha, a hotel in Bombay,
had been introduced to Gandhiji by Tilak, who used to stay there occasionally.

2 Stokes had urged upon Gandhiji that it was in the interests of the country that
he should relax. Gandhiji appears to have written earlier to him: “I1t is my duty before
coming to afinal decision to understand thoroughly the viewpoint of those who
advocated Council-entry.” This letter is not available.

® A worker of Kheda district
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having that illness.

With love from both of us to both of you.

Yours ever,

[PS]

The memoranda have not yet reached me.
S. E. STOKES, ESQ.
HARMONY HALL
KOTGARH

SIMLA HILLS
From a photostat: S. N. 8497

59. LETTER TO FRASER ULSNS

POST ANDHERI,
March 15, 1924
DEAR FRIEND,
| have your letter of the 10th February.*

| send my autograph on a separate piece of paper. | am sorry |
cannot send you onein ink as my hand is yet too shaky for me to
write a firm hand with an ink-pen.
Yours sincerely,

FRASER ULSINS, ESQ.

THEHILL SCHOOL
POTTSTOWN
PENNSYLVANIA, U.S.A.

From a photostat: S. N. 8498

! Ulsins had written that he was collecting autographs of famous men and
would consider it agreat honour to add Gandhiji’s signature to his collection.
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60. LETTERTO S A. BRELVI

POST ANDHER],
March 15, 1924

DEAR MR. BRELVI,

| have your letter enclosing a synopsis of a novel written by
Professor K. T. Shah'. | shall go through it as soon as | get the time
for it and let you know whether | shall want the whole manuscript.

Yours sincerely,
S. A. BRELVI, ESQ.
“ BOMBAY CHRONICLE” OFFICE
FORT
BOMBAY
From a photostat: S.N. 8504
61. LETTERTO M. PRATAP
POST ANDHERI,

March 15, 1924
DEAR FRIEND,

| was glad to receive your letter. When | went to Prem Vidya-
laya, | believe Bhai Kotwal talked to me about you. Whilst it is true
that we seem to see in Nature both the benignant and the malignant
forcesin full activity, | am convinced that it is the prerogative of man
to rise superior to the eternal duel and to attain equanimity, and the
only way we can do so is by practising to the fullest extent the truth-
force, otherwise described as |love-force or soul-force. You will not
expect me to argue out the point. | can only place before you my
conviction based upon prolonged experience during which | cannot
recall a single occasion when this force has not completely answered.
No doubt it requires the cultivation of patience, humility and the like.

Yours sincerely,
M. PRATAP, ESQ.
BAGH BABER
KABUL
From a photostat: S.N. 8499

! Economist and author; secretary, National Planning Committee, set up by
the Indian National Congress. He had written a historical novel in English deling
with the Non-co-operation movement with Gandhiji as the central figure.
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62. LETTER TO ABBASTYABJI*

POST ANDHERI,
March 15, 1924
MY DEAR FRIEND,

“Cheer, boys, cheer, no more of idle sorrow.” Why worry about
anything? There is an under-note? of sorrowful despair about your
letter®. Better that, however, than nothing. Y ou want me to whip you
into cheerfulness and for my encouragement you cite the noble
example of your cousin in Zanzibar. Only, he had a black boy who
was really a boy to deal with, whereas | have the very difficult task of
correcting a grown-up old boy with a hoary beard and afair face. It
was a comparatively easy task to brave the operation for appendicitis.
But how shall I, a mere youngster compared to you, perform the task
you expect me to handle? However, when we meet, | shall endeavour
to prepare myself for it. You* do not know that at the present moment
| am sporting a proper Afghan stick. Therefore better beware.
Permission to lodge with me is only granted to fellow-patients. Y ou
are suffering from melancholia and are hereby permitted to come
whenever you choose and can. Only the upper floor rooms are all
practically taken up. If, therefore, you want privacy, | shall have to
condemn you to afirst-floor room, but | have just received aletter
from Devchand Parekh of Kathiawar that that tyrant-king of Gujarat,
Vallabhbhai, is packing you off to Kathiawar.

| am making steady progress. | am putting through a fair
amount of work every day. | am not yet capable of much physical
exertion.

How is Mrs. Abbas? Where are the girls? What are they doing?
Devdas told me that Fatima had at last been married. To whom was
she married? Are the couple happy? Where are they staying? What is
the hasband doing? Y ou see | am interested in all the members of the
family because for so many years now it has made me one of the

' Abbas Tyabji (1853-1936); former judge of Baroda High Court; nationalist
Muslim leader of Gujarat. He was one of the Commissioners appointed by the Punjab
sub-committee of the Congress to report on the Punjab disorders.

2 Perhaps a slip for “undertone”

® Thiswas dated March 13.

* The source has “we” which isasdlip.

® Thiswas aform of greeting used by Gandhiji and the addressee for each
other.
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members! You must excuse a dictated domestic letter. My hand is too
shaky to write as much as | should like to, and as | wanted to give you
afairly long letter, | had to choose between not writing such a letter
or' dictating. | have chosen the latter course.

With love to you all and bhurr* to you in addition.

Yours,

M. K. G.
ABBASTYABJ ESQ.
BARODA CAMP

From a photostat: S.N. 9595

63. LETTER TO JAWAHARLAL NEHRU

POST ANDHER],
March 15, 1924
MY DEAR JAWAHARLAL,

| have your letter, and | had your and Mahomed Ali’s telegrams
regarding Panikkar.? Y our letter embarrasses me a little. | have not
intended, nor do | intend now to form any decided opinion about
making appointments, fixing salaries, etc. As | shared Joseph's
opinion that he should be by his wife's side when she was so much
troubled, and as the Sikh friends who came to see me seemed to be
very anxious to have a substitute for Gidwani, a substitute who could
also edit their paper Onward, | was on the look-out for one. They
wanted Sundaram who used to be on the Independent and suggested

! Perhaps adlip for “and”

? Gandhiji appears to have wired Jawaharlal Nehru on March 12. The telegram
is not available. Nehru replied to it on March 13. He had written: “I have known
Panikkar by repute for several years and met him for a short time in Cocanada. | am
sure his presence will be very useful in Amritsar. His ignorance of Hindustani will be
a drawback, but this will be more than compensated by his other attainments. He will
be an excellent man for publicity work. Perhaps, owing to his language difficulty, he
might not be very helpful in bringing the Sikhs and Hindus nearer to each other. But
on the whole Panikkar will be an acquisition in Amritsar. As regards terms, anything
that you consider reasonable will surely be agreed to by all others. Technically, the
Working Committee will not meet till the 21st April. The terms suggested in your
telegram are rather complicated, but that is for you to decide. | am glad that Panikkar
contemplates a lengthy stay at Amritsar. Personally, | doubt if it will be necessary for
him to stay for many months. There is just a possibility of Gidwani coming out
sooner and an equal possibility of Gidwani’s successor going in. Of course, Panikkar
will not unnecessarily invite jail, but neither did Gidwani.”
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that he could do both the things[ publicity and editing. On my
arrival at the retreat near Andheri, | saw Panikkar who had come to see
Mr. Andrews in order to discuss the advisability of an offer that was
made to him by the Indian Daily Mail. He had hesitation in accepting
the offer because the Mail politics were not his. | then thought of the
publicity work and asked Panikkar whether he would shoulder the
burden, and as | did not know him well, | consulted Mr. Andrews
too, and when Panikkar was prepared to go to Amritsar if you wan-
ted him and as Mr. Andrews thought that he would make a very good
substitute for Gidwani, | wired. But | had no desire that you should be
influenced in any way by the wire because it was from me. If | was
well and could acquaint myself with all the details, | should certainly
have given my advice and opinion as to the selection, but for the
present beyond interesting myself in the few things in which | must, |
really do not want to tax my energy.

With reference to the salary the position was this. Panikkar was
in the Swarajya office at Rs. 700/- per month, but as the paper is not,
self-supporting, it has not been able to pay him afew months’ salary.
He left it because he could not hit it off with Mr. Srinivasa lyengar.
He has to discharge a debt of Rs. 900 in Madras. He needs Rs. 300
per month. | therefore thought that if he was paid Rs. 900 in advance,
he could discharge the debt and proceed to Amritsar. He would still
want his expenses [to be met] at Amritsar. For this Rs. 100 monthly
should be paid to him by way of loan. At the end of 3 months’
service, therefore, he will be owing to the Congress Rs. 300. This may
again be deducted from his salary at the rate of Rs. 100 per month.
That means that he has to serve for 6 months in order to discharge the
loan he would be receiving. | am now perturbed because | gather
from your letter that he may not be wanted for that length of time. |
would not like to be the instrument of useless expense to the
Congress. | propose, therefore, to place the whole situation before
Panikkar, and he will probably agree that if his services are dispensed
with before 6 months, he should be liable for the unpaid balance of
the loan. He is not here at the present moment, or | should have sent
you amore decisive letter.

| do not feel that you would want me, if it was possible, to cancel
the engagement with Panikkar and am therefore letting it stand and
sending him to Amritsar tomorrow. In accordance with your latest
telegram, he will be going direct to Amritsar. Please authorize the
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Treasurer to reimburse to me the amount that | shall be paying
Panikkar.

Indeed, if | was minded to influence you, | should ask you to
reconsider the question of each appointment for two reasons:

(1) Should the Congress spend money on non-Congress work?

(2) What should be the maximum the Congress should pay its
Servants?

So much for business. My wound is completely healed, but the
affected part is yet tender and requires care and attention. The seaside
convalescence is likely to suit me. | propose, if all goes well, to stop
here for 3 months. During the time | shall be doing as much writing
work as | can and conferring with the leaders upon the Council-entry,
etc. Father, Hakimji and others are expected here by the end of the
month. Y ou need not hesitate to come down for consultation when-
ever you wish. | expect in any event to see you on the 20th prox. as |
understand the Working Committee meets on that date. | do hope you
are keeping well and taking care of yourself.

Panikkar has seen this letter and he will hold himself ready to be
relieved whenever you think it necessary and would be liable for
repayment of the loan.

Yours sincerely,
PANDIT JAWAHARLAL NEHRU
From a photostat: S.N. 8503
64. LETTERTOA. A. PAUL
POST ANDHERI,

March 15, 1924
DEAR MR. PAUL,
| have your letter of the 8th inst. enclosing a copy of
Mr. Aitken’s letter. | believe he and | know each other. If heisthe
Mr. Aitken | know, he knows my views very well. However, | shall jot
them down here for what they are worth.

The Indian community of South Africaincludes people from all
provinces and represents Hinduism, Islam, Christianity and Zoroastr-
ianism. There are many South Africa-born Indians who are Christians
and are highly educated and therefore naturally very sensitive about
self-respect. The restrictive legislation of South Africa applies to them
although South Africais their home and although the majority of
them never expect to seeIndiaat all. It is not known here that rightly
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or wrongly these young men and women have adopted European
customs, manners, dress, etc., but neither their Christianity nor their
education nor their Europeanization has saved them from the bar
sinister. | mention this fact not to show that they should have a special
or separate treatment (they would themselves object to any such
distinction), but to emphasize the fact that the restrictive legislation in
South Africa is predominantly racial in character. The economic
aspect occupies a subordinate position. The Indian clam is
exceedingly simple and reasonable. They have voluntarily accepted
administrative restriction of Indian immigration and, as a matter of
fact, hardly any Indian who has not previously resided in South Africa
and practically made it his home is admitted. In exchange for this
voluntary self-denial, the domiciled community claims equality of
treatment. This position has been always regarded by the thoughtful
Europeans of South Africa as eminently reasonable, and in 1914, an
agreement was arrived at between the South African Government and
the Indian community to which both the Imperial and the Indian
Governments were party, whereby it was understood that no further
restrictive legislation should be passed and that the position of the
domiciled Indians would be steadily and progressively ameliorated.*
The local Indian community, therefore, has a double grievance in
respect of the present anti-Indian agitation in South Africa. The vast
majority of Europeans in South Africa are nominally Christian. | have
the privilege of claiming many of them, especially the missionaries, as
my life-long friends. What is wanted is for the real Christians to dare
to stand for truth and justice. There is unfortunately too much of
expedience even amongst some of the best of them. They think that
standing for truth in the face of prejudice will impair their usefulness
for service. | have always dissented from this view, and my humble
opinion based upon extensive experience is that such an attitude is a
concession, although totally unconscious, to Satan.

| need hardly assure you that Mr. Aitken's letter will be
regarded as strictly confidential and, on that account, | shall make no
use of my letter to you either.

Yours truly,

A.A. PAUL, ESQ.
GENERAL SECRETARY
THE STUDENT CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION OF INDIA, BURMA & CEYLON
6, MILLER ROAD, K ILPAUK
MADRAS

From a photostat: S.N. 8500 and 9927

! Vide “Cableto G. K. Gokhale”, 22-1-1914.
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65. CABLE TO EAST AFRICAN INDIAN CONGRESS
[On or after March 15, 1924]

CONGRESS

MOMBASA

DELIGHTED COMMUNITY GOING FORWARD WITH PRO-
GRAMME SUFFERING SUCCESS YOURS IF You
CONTINUE. REGRET UNABLE SEND ANYONE. ANDREWS
JOINS?

From a photostat: S.N. 9926

66. CABLE TO SAROJINI NAIDU?
[Before March 16, 1924]*

PRAY TELL GENERAL SMUTS AND RESPONSIBLE
EUROPEANS  THAT THE CLASS AREAS BILL® IS A
POOR RECOMPENSE FOR THE LOCAL INDIANS EX-
EMPLARY SELF-RESTRAINT THROUGHOUT THE INTEREST-
ED CAMPAIGN AGAINST THEM. EUROPEANS SHOULD
REMEMBER THAT THE LOCAL INDIANS VOLUNTARILY
SUBMITTED TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE RESTRICTION OF
FURTHER INDIAN IMMIGRATION. REMIND THE UNION
GOVERNMENT OF THE ASSURANCE GIVEN TO GOKHALE.®
THAT NO FURTHER DISABLING LEGISLATION WILL BE

' Thiswasin reply to a cable from the East African Indian Congress dated
March 15, which read: “Non-payment going ahead. Government callous imprisoning
attaching property. Request send four workers preferably Andrews, Vallabhbhai, Ma-
hadevbhai, Devdas. You visit Kenyarecovery health.”

2 At the end of the draft telegram Gandhiji wrote: “Let Mr. Andrews see this
and forward tomorrow if the approves.”

® Sarojini Naidu (1879-1949); poetess, social reformer; lectured widely in
India and the U.S.A. in 1928-29; first woman President of the Congress, 1925. She
was in South Africa at this time.

* Gujarati, 16-3-1924, carried a translation of this cable.

® This, though not specifically directed against Indians, contained provisions
which could be used in urban areas for the compulsory segregation of Asiatics”, and
“might well have led to the utter ruin of many Indian traders. . . . “ The bill lapsed for
the year 1924 as a consequence of the unexpected dissolution of the South African
House of Assembly.

® On hisvisit to South Africain 1921.
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PASSED. ALSO THE COMPACT OF 1914 NOTHING SINCE

DONE BY THE LOCAL INDIANS DESERVES THE PROPOSED
TREATMENT . ACCEPTANCE OF THE CLASS AREAS BILL
IS TANTAMOUNT TO POLITICAL AND CIVIL SUICIDE.
| TRUST YOUR WINSOME ELOQUENCE WILL DISARM
OPPOSITION AND MAKE THE LOT OF YOUR  COUNTRY-

MEN EASIER FOR YOUR PRESENCE.

From a microfilm of a newspaper cutting: S.N. 8535

67. LETTERTOJ. P BHANSALI

POST ANDHERY,
March 16, 1924
MY DEAR BHANSALI,

How glad | was to receive your letter! |1 have gone through the
greater part of it. | have not yet read the cuttings you have attached to
it. | want to write out my jail experiences. Y our notes’ will be valuable.
| propose to send them to Jairamdas for him to add, amend or merely
corroborate. Having remained in perfect isolation from you all, my
statement must in some respects be one-sided. Your notes will,
therefore, as | have said, be of value.

I confess that | had not thought of referring to you or Jairam-
das at the time of writing my experiences. Nothing had matured in my
mind as | am just now occupied with the things on which | must give
my opinion. Your letter, however, has come a a most opportune
moment. Y ou have said nothing about yourself. Do please let me have
aline. Hardly a day has passed but | have thought of you. | had
inquired of you of everyone who had come from the Ashram.

Yours,
SJT. J. P. BHANSALI
SATYAGRAHA ASHRAM
SABARMATI
From a photostat: S.N. 8506

! Made between Gandhiji and General Smuts, on January 22, 1914, it bound
the Government to the principle of consultation with Indians before any legislation
affecting them was passed. Vide “Cable to G. K. Gokhale”, 22-1-1914, “Interview ti
Rand Daily Mail”, 23-1-1914, “Letter to Bhavani Dayal”, 23-1-1914, “Cable to G. K.
Gokhale”, on or before 25-1-1914, “ Speech at Mass Meeting”, 25-1-1914, “Cable to
G. K. Gokhale”, 26-1-1914, “Letter to Indian Grievances Commission”, 26-1-1914
and “ Smuts-Gandhi Correspondence”, 28-1-1914.

> These are not available. It is however likely that these related to Bhansali’s
own experiences of jail life; vide also the following item.
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68. LETTER TO JAIRAMDAS DOULATRAM

POST ANDHER,
March 16, 1924

MY DEAR JAIRAMDAS,

Bhansali has sent me the accompanying notes. | would like you
to go through them and add, amend or corroborate. It will help me to
supplement my own jail experiences so that | may not give a mere
rosy picture. Do also tell me when you write as to how you are getting
on and tell me all about Dr. Choithram’s health. He must get well very
quickly.

SJT. JAIRAMDAS DOULATRAM
HYDERABAD (SIND)

From a photostat: S.N. 8507

69. LETTERTO A. D. SKENE CATLING

POST ANDHER,
March 16, 1924

DEAR MR. CATLING,
| thank you for your note sent through Mr. Panikkar.
| shall be delighted to see you and Mr. lyer or Wednesday at the
time stated by you.

Yours sincerely,
A. D. SKENECATLING, ESQ.
MESSRSREUTERSLIMITED
BOMBAY

From a photostat: S.N. 8509

70. LETTERTO D. HANUMANTRAO

POST ANDHER,
March 16, 1924

MY DEAR HANUMANTRAO,
I have your long but welcome letter. Y ou need not apologize
henceforth for the length of your letter because you never writeidly.
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The only way for those of us who, living in isolated, unprotected
places, rely for protection upon God’s grace and not upon force of
arms, is to have as few valuables as possible whether in the shape of
money or otherwise, and to cultivate fellowship even with the roughest
element surrounding us. That is what is being attempted at Sabarmati.

| appreciate your suggestion regarding the founding of an
Ashram like the Sabarmati one in the different Provinces of India. |
would like to do so, but they cannot be founded for the mere wish. We
need the proper stamp of men and | have no knowledge of them. Y ou
have established one and you realize the difficulty of carrying it on.
There is another at Wardha, as you know, conducted by Vinoba,
whom you know. It came into being because a Vinoba was found.
There is another near Andheri, because a Keshavrao Deshpande has
been found. All the four are struggling. Such Ashrams are an organic
growth and they will come into being in their own time, but | like the
centre of your suggestion, namely that | should remain a the
Sabarmati Ashram and endeavor to make it perfect. | would love to
do it. The external political activity is not of my seeking. | therefore
cannot giveit up of my will. If God desires that | should develop the
Ashram by being init, He will make my way clear. If it is a rea
organic growth, | know that it will continue to make progress whether
I aminit our outside. After all, if any such institution has to depend
merely upon one man'’s existence on earth, it has to perish with him,
but if it isto be of a permanent character, it must depend for its
existence upon its own independence and internal vitality. Nor need
we be impatient about their progress or success. It is sufficient if we
do the best according to our lights and leave the rest to Him who
disposes of everything. | think you have done well in not taking upon
your shoulders the grave responsibility of taking young women in the
Ashram so long as you have no woman worker who can stand on her
own and who can become a wall of protection to such girls. | shall
hope that your own wife will be such in time.

Now about the Nature-cure. Every change at Sabarmati, so far as
diet and medicinal aid are concerned, is, | know, afall. It commenced
with my first serious illness. It shook me and | lost confidence in
myself, whereas at Kochrab | handled fearlessly and with confidence
in Nature’s healing power two cases of confluent small-pox in the
face of medical opposition and serious enteric fever at the same time.
At Sabarmati, after my illness, | have not been able to handle even
trivial cases. My theory is that a man who himself becomes a prey to
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illness is unfit to guide others. | tried almost to the point of obstinacy
to do without milk and ghee, but | failed. Had the illness not
overcome me, | would have continued my experiments, but | was
nonplussed, and I must make the same sad confession about medicine.
A man who advises abstention from such things must be prepared with
an effective substitute. Having myself become a broken reed, | have
alowed things to take their own course. This breakdown in the
application of Nature-cureis atragedy of my life. Not that | have lost
faith init, but | have lost confidence in myself. Help me to recover it.
Y ou can see how Maganlal understands me through and through. He
has sent Shivabhai to you without any reference to me, because he
realizes our tragic fate just as much as | do. We shall al, therefore, be
watching your progress with greatest sympathy and attention. Y ou will
therefore not hesitate to write to me about this whenever you have
anything new to tell me.

Yours sincerely,
SJT. D. HANUMANTRAO
SATYAGRAHA ASHRAM
PALLEPADU (NELLOREDIST.)
From amicrofilm: S.N. 8508; also C.W. 5113
71. LETTER TO MANGAL SINGH
POST ANDHERI,

March 16, 1924
DEAR SARDAR MANGAL SINGH,

Thiswill introduce to you Mr. Panikkar who is coming there to
replace Professor Gidwani. You may know that Mr. Panikkar is an
M.A. of Oxford with First Class Honours. He was a Professor in the
Aligarh Muslim University and non-co-operated on my imprison-
ment. He was in the Swarajya office with Mr. Prakasam for some
time. If you want him, he will edit the Onward also. | have given him
the purport of our conversations. | believe that Mr. Panikkar has
assimilated the essentials of the doctrine of non-violence. | have told
him that he is to give the public an unvarnished and impartial
statement about all the happenings in connection with the movement
of the S.G.P.C. Whilst he must necessarily be sympathetic in his
consideration of the situation as it presents itself to him from time to
time, he must not hide short-comings if he notices any, and | have told
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him too that not to hide them would be the best service he can render
to the cause. He will, of course, show the head of the S.G.P.C. all the
reports that he makes to the Congress Committee from time to time
previous to their despatch to the Secretary.

Will you kindly make arrangements for Mr. Panikkar's
lodgings and ordinary comforts and also take him to Mrs. Gidwani
and Mrs. Kitchlew.

| hope the work is going on smoothly. Please remember me to
the friends who accompanied you. | hope to hear from you in due
course. | need hardly say how glad | was to find that the Jatha allowed
itself to be arrested without a murmur and in a dignified manner.*

M. K. GANDHI

SARDAR MANGAL SINGH
AMRITSAR
From a photostat: S.N. 9929

72. TELEGRAM TO SHUKLA?
[On or after March 16, 1924]

CONGRATULATIONS COMMUNITY FOR JATHA’S DIGNIFIED
PEACEFUL SURRENDER. ANDREWS JOINS. PANIKKAR
REACHING THERE TUESDAY. PLEASE MEET.

GANDHI

From a photostat: S. N. 9928

' On March 17, Mangal Singh replied, saying that the earlier instructions to
the Jatha to “sit tight” and “not willingly give themselves up for arrest” were later
revised and they were asked to “gladly surrender”. 500 of the Jatha accordingly
surrendered. He spoke of the “splendid behaviour, cool courage and remarkable
restraint displayed by the Jatha” and requested Gandhiji to address them a few lines on
this point.

> Thiswasin reply to atelegram from Shukla of Akali Sahayak Bureau dated
March 15 received on March 16, 1924, which read: “Second Shahidi Jatha on
receiving order of arrest surrendered itself in exemplary manner. Official poster at
Amritsar admits their peaceful behaviour.”
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73. THE ROOT OBJECTION

ANDHER],
March 17, 1924

A document dated the 1st of February 1920 and signed by me
at Lahore and handed to Dr. (now sir) Joseph Nunan' has been
reproduced in an elaborate paper (dated 22nd November, 1923) on
the status of Indians abroad. As it has been used in support of a
scheme of Indian colonization in British Guianaand as it is stated in
that paperd “so far asis known, it still expresses Mahatma Gandhi’s
attitude towards British Guiana,” it is necessary to make my position
clear. The statement made by me in the February of 1920 is as
follows:

Lahore, 1st February, 1920

From the outset Mr. Gandhi made it perfectly clear that he was not
prepared to take any step that could be construed as a personal encouragement
by him to Indians to leave India. He was not in favour of the emigration of
Indians. At the same time he realized that many held different views on this
point and he was equally not in favour of using compulsion. by legislative or

executive action to compel Indians to stay at home. They should be
treated as free citizens at home and abroad. They should certainly, however, be
protected from misrepresentation. He knew nothing to prevent people
emigrating now except a Defence of the Realm Regulation which would expire
six months after the War. (Thisis the regulation preventing the emigration of
unskilled labourers for work abroad, until six months after the War, unless
under special or general licence.)

Once assured that equal rights for Indians existed in regard to political,
municipal, legal, commercial and industrial matters in British Guiana, and that
they were not alone receiving fair treatment from the administration and the
general community, but would be guaranteed the continuance of such fair
treatment, he would not oppose any scheme of free colonization by Indian
agricultural families.

He was satisfied that the Colony had liberal constitution, and that
Indians could be and were elected to membership of the Legislature and to
municipal office. He was satisfied that they had equality of rights with other
races, and that there were opportunities of acquiring land for settlement. He
was in favour of allowing atest of the scheme subject to areport at the end of
six months on its working by Mr. C. F. Andrews or some other representative

! Attorney-General of British Guiana. In 1920 he led a deputation to India to
recruit emigrants for colonization in British Guiana.
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of the Indian popular leaders. The deputation accepted this proposal of areport
by a popular representative independently of any supervising officer nomi-
nated by the Indian Government, and offered to pay all expenses.

Mr. Gandhi agreed that all necessary guarantees for the continuance of
equal treatment could be furnished by the Colonial Office and British Guiana
Government through the Government of Indiato the Indian people and its
popular leaders.*

It was hardly fair to use this statement in support of any scheme.
It could only be used for supporting a trial shipment under the
supervision of Mr. C. F. Andrews or someone having the same status
and having the same intimate knowledge of the position of British
Indians abroad. But | admit that if such atrial proved successful from
the Indian standpoint, | should be bound, under the foregoing
statement, not to oppose a scheme of colonization under proper
safeguards. My views, however, since the February of 1920, about the
British system of Government have, as is well known, undergone a
revolutionary change. At the time | gave the statement, my faith in
that system, in spite of bitter, hostile experiences, had not altogether
disappeared. But now | am able no longer to rely upon verba or
written promises made by persons working under that system and in
their capacity as officials or supporters. The history of Indian
emigrants to South Africa, East Africa and Fiji is a history of broken
promises and of ignominious surrender of their trust by the Imperial
Government and the Indian Government, whenever it has been a
question of conflicting interests of Europeans against Indians. The
handful of Europeans have almost succeeded in East Africa in
bullying the Imperial Government into sacrificing the prior rights of
Indian settlers there. In South Africa, the Indian settlers' fate is
trembling in the balance. In Fiji, the Indian is still the underdog.
There is no reason to suppose that British Guiana, if the test came, will
be an exception. The moment Indians become successful rivals of
Europeans in that colony, that very moment all guarantees, written or
verbal, will disappear. Filled as | am with utter distrust of the British
Imperial system, | am unable to countenance any scheme of
emigration to British Guiana, ho matter how promising it may appear
on paper and no matter what guarantees may be given for due
fulfillment of the pledges given. The benefit that must accrue to the
Indian emigrants under any such scheme will be illusory. | am,

! For Gandhiji’s views on the question expressed in 1920, vide “Punjab
Letter”, 2-2-1920 & “British Guiana and Fiji Deputation”, 4-2-1920.
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therefore, unable to countenance the proposed scheme of Indian
colonization in British Guiana. | do not hesitate to give my opinion
without consultation with the British Guiana deputations because of
the root objection stated above. If | had to express an opinion upon
the merits of the scheme, the ordinary rule of courtesy would have
bound me, before saying anything hostile to it, to meet the British
Guiana deputation’ s and understand their view-points. Not till India
has come to her own and has a government fully responsible to her
people and able effectively to protect Indian settlers abroad from
injustice can any advantage accrue to Indian emigrants even under an
ideal scheme.

M. K. GANDHI
Young India, 20-3-1924

74. LETTERTO A. W. BAKER'

POST ANDHER,
March 18, 1924

DEAR MR. BAKER,

| was delighted to receive your letter with The Key to Happiness.
Be Careful for Nothing has ever been with me, and did | not place all
my worries at the feet of God, | should have gone mad by this time.
All | can say at present about the other part of your letter isthat | am
endeavouring to follow where God leads me. Nothing can possibly
keep me away from that light except my ignorance. | have no axes to
grind, no worldly ambition to serve. The only purpose of lifeisto see
God face to face, and the more | see of life and its experiences, the
more | feel that everyone does not receive the light in the same way
even as, though the sun is the same, we see it differently from the
equatorial regions, from the temperate zone and from the frigid zone.
But | do not wish to argue with you. | have simply stated what has
become a deep conviction with me.

! Attorney for Dada Abdulla Sheth, whom Gandhiji met in Pretoriain 1893;
introduced the latter to Christian friends. Gandhiji wrote of him: “He still corresponds
with me. In hisletters he always dwells on the same theme. He upholds the excellence
of Christianity.
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Do please remember me to the friends | had the privilege of
knowing there.

Yours sincerely,
A. W. BAKER, ESQ.
HILLCREST
P. O. NORTH RAND
TRANSVAAL
From a copy: S.N. 8528; also C.W. 5128
75. LETTER TO HARDAYAL NAG
POST ANDHERI,

March 18, 1924
DEAR MR. NAG',
| have your letter of the 9th instant.

Thanks for your inquiry about my health. | am making steady
progress and am able to attend to my correspondence. Do please
therefore write whatever you wish to.

Yours sincerely,
BABU HARDAYAL NAG

CHANDPUR
DIST. TIPPERAH (BENGAL)

From a photostat: S.N. 8519; also C.W. 5122

76. LETTERTO DR. M. A. ANSARP

POST ANDHER],
March 18, 1924
DEARDR. ANSARI®,

How relived | was to receive your comforting wire. Many thanks
for it. The Big Brother cannot afford to be laid up in bed. The work
before [us] is appalling and we are so few to do it. Please keep me
informed of the patient’s progress from day to day.

' President, Bengal Provincial Congress Committee

2 Thiswasin reply to Dr. Ansari’s telegram of March 18, concerning Shaukat
Ali’s illness, which read: “Blood examination proved mild typhoid infection.
Temperature varies 101 to 104. No complications, no anxiety.” S.N. 8517. Gandhiji
also wrote to Shaukat Ali; vide the following item.

® Dr. Mukhtar Ahmed Ansari (1880-1936); nationalist Muslim |eader; Presi-
dent, Muslim League, 1920; President, Indian National Congress, 1927.
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Pray remember me to Begum Ansari, Dr. Abdur Rahman and
other friends.

Yours sincerely,
M. K. GANDHI
From a photostat: S.N. 8521

77. LETTERTO SHAUKAT AL

March 18, 1924
DEAR FRIEND AND BIG BROTHER,
It will becomes you to have typhoid fever or any fever. Let
illness be only my lot in our circle. But | do not want to inflict along
letter on you. May God soon restore you.

Yours sincerely,
M. K. GANDHI
From a photostat: S.N. 8520

78. LETTERTO N. K. BEHARE

POST ANDHERI,
March 18, 1924

DEAR MR. BEHARE,

| have the text of the resolutions passed by the Depressed
Classes Conference held at Koteshwar. You may depend upon my
doing all that is possible for me to do in the common cause.

Yours sincerely,

N. K. BEHARE, ESQ.
NORMAL SCHOOL
WARDHA

From a photostat: S.N. 8522; also C.W. 5121
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79. LETTER TO MOTILAL NEHRU

ANDHERI,
March 18, 1924
DEAR MOTILALJ,

| have your telegram about rejection of the Finance Bill? |
rejoice because the victory gives you joy, but | cannot enthuse over it,
nor am | amazed at the victory. With proper discipline and tact it was
not an impossible feat, and | never doubted your very great tactfulness
and persuasive eloquence and your patience with threats, and |
entirely agree with you that, if you had more time for organization
and a larger backing from the country, you would have carried
everything before you in the Provincia as well as the Centra
Legislature. What, however, | cannot get over | explained somewhat to
Lagji. Since then my views have developed further along the same
line, and at one time | thought of dictating afairly long letter setting
forth my views, but | held back for three reasons. | doubted the
wisdom of the course. Knowing how busy you are, | felt | ought not
to inflict along letter on you, and thirdly, | wanted to conserve my
energy for the things | must do from day to day. If you are able to

carry out the original programme, we shall meet before long.

| hope in the midst of your very wonderful activities you are
keeping good health.

Yours sincerely,
[PS]
| have just received your second wire. How | wish | could see
eye to eye with you and thus share your joy to the full.

PANDIT MOTILAL NEHRU
25, WESTERN HOSTEL
DELHI

From a photostat of the typewritten office copy: S.N. 8525; also C.W. 5118

! Motilal Nehru (1861-1931); lawyer and politician; co-founder of Swaraj
Party; elected to Central Legislative Assembly in 1923 and 1926; presided over
Committee which drafted Nehru Report, 1928; President of the Indian National
Congress, 1919 and 1928

? LalaLagjpat Rai

® On March 17, on amotion by Madan Mohan Malaviya, the Central Legis-
lative Assembly had withheld leave to introduce the Finance Bill by 60 votes against
57. Motilal Nehru’s telegram, dated March 18, said: ‘ Finance Bill again introduced
today with Viceroy’s recommendation. Assembly refused |eave without division.”
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80. LETTER TO FRANCISLOW

POST ANDHER,
March 18, 1924

DEAR MR. LOW,
| have your note of the 17th instant.*
| shall be glad to see your representative on Thursday next
at 9 am.

Yours sincerely,
FRANCISLOW, ESQ.
“EVENING NEWS OF INDIA”
TIMESBUILDING
BOMBAY
From a photostat: S.N. 8524; also C.W. 5123
81l. LETTERTO FRANK P. SMITH
POST ANDHER],

March 18, 1924
DEAR FRIEND,
I must thank you for your letter of 5th February and for [your]
appreciation.?
Yours sincerely,
FRANK P. SMITH, ESQ.
MESSRSTHOMPSON & SMITH
LAWYERS
SAPULPA, OKLA.
U.SA.
From a copy: C.W. 5119

! Francis Low, then Assistant Editor, had proposed that, in view of Gandhiji’s
health, the interview should not be long or of an exhaustive character, but should deal
with the representative’ s impressions of his visit. For the report, vide “Interview to
Evening News of India”, 20-3-1924.

% Frank P. Smith, of afirm of lawyers, Oklahoma, U.S.A., had written: “With
all of the world figures of statesmanship in mind, | greet you as the foremost one from
areal Christian standpoint. The great principle of all wisdom, progressing materially
with all power that works anywhere to its infinite ends, will vindicate my esteem of
you. Your policy is the first one which practically concedes the supremacy of the
spiritual over the material, the superiority of the power of love over that of physical
force. We could well follow. . . your example to a peace that will be universal and
lasting. . .." S.N. 8234
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82. LETTER TO HOWARD S ROSS

POST ANDHER,
March 18, 1924

DEAR FRIEND,
| thank you for your letter* of the 15th February.

In the present state of my health, | am able only to give my

attention to things | know and which | dare not avoid.
Yours sincerely,

HOWARD S. ROSS, ESQ.
MESSRS. MONTY, DURANLEAU, ROSSAND ANGERS
BARRISTERSAND SOLICITORS
VERSAILLESBUILDING
90, ST. JAMES STREET
MONTREAL (CANADA)

From a photostat: S.N. 8523; also C.W. 5120

83. LETTERTOK. P. KESAVA MENON

POST ANDHER,
March 19, 1924

MY DEAR KESAVA MENON,
| have your letter.?

I know that the condition of the suppressed classes is the worst
in your part of India. Asyou say, they are not merely untouchable,
but they may not walk through certain streets. Their condition is truly
deplorable. | do not wonder that we have not yet attained swaraj. To
vindicate the right of these countrymen of ours to the use of public
streets, the Provincial Committee is organizing a procession containing

' Thisreferred to a scheme for the substitution of a ‘work-unit’ for a ‘result-
unit’, which, it claimed, was the ‘ cause of all trouble’ in labour relations. Ross also
sent Gandhiji a copy of Equitist, organ of the ‘Equitist’ movement. S.N. 8336

> Kesava Menon, Secretary, District Congress Committee, had informed Gan-
dhiji in his letter of March 12 that a procession of the Ezhavas, the Tiyyas and the
Pulayas] the ‘ unapproachables [ would be taken on a ‘prohibited’ public road round
the temple, “to be conducted in the most orderly way possible”. Vide Appendix
“Extract from K. P. Kesava Menon’s Letter”, 25-3-1924.
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them that shall pass through the forbidden streets.' This is a species of
satyagraha. At this stage | do not need to draw attention to its con-
ditions. There should be no show of force if any of our people
oppose their progress. Y ou should meekly submit and take al the
beating, if any. Everyone taking part in the procession should be
acquainted with the conditions and be prepared to fulfill them. There
should be only alimited number. There should be no defiance, and if
you find that the processionists are not likely to comply with the
conditions, there should be no hesitation in postponing the pro-
cession. | fear that we have not canvassed enough the opponents of
the reform. Caution, therefore, is all the more necessary. The problem,
I know, is very difficult. To advise from my sick-bed is easy enough.
The best thing, therefore, that | can do is, after uttering the caution, to
wish you every success in the proposed enterprise.

Yours sincerely,
SJT. K. P. KESAVA MENON
CALICUT
From a photostat: S.N. 10262; C.W. 5124

84. LETTERTOD. R MAJLI

March 19, 1924
MY DEAR MAJLI,

My hand is a little steady now. How delightful to have your
postcard! Do write whenever you can. You will soon be calm, | have
no doubt. Do not fail to come here whenever you are permitted and
able.

M. K. GANDHI
D.R. MAJLI

BELGAUM
From a copy: S.N. 8530

' A newspaper report said: “ Arrangements are briskly going on in Vykom to
start satyagraha in case the authorities prohibit the unapproachables from passing
along the Temple Road.” The Untouchability Committee was to meet at Vykom on
March 28 to decide the line of action.
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85. LETTERTO C. VIJAYARAGHAVACHARIAR'

POST ANDHER),
March 19, 1924
MY DEAR FRIEND,
| was able today to read your interview? from first to last.

Y ou have touched upon topics on some of which | am pledged
to silencetill 1 have met the leaders who have warmly advocated
Council-entry.

Whether the last Congress® was a success or not is a question
upon which | can say hothing because | was not an eye-witness. Y our
remarks on the question are most interesting.

Y ou seem to think that the Congress has done very little in the
matter of untouchability and general national education. | venture to
dissent from the view. The remova of untouchability has been
brought within the range of possibility in the near future because of
the incessant propaganda by Congress Hindus. No doubt a great deal
still remains to be done. It is not an easy feat to root out prejudices
which have acquired an undeserved sanctity because of their age. But
the barrier is breaking down.

| heartily endorse your remark that it is the duty of the Hindus
to move and win over all the minorities to the service of the country.

| wish that your pronouncement against untouchability was
more precise and uncompromising. | am not concerned with its
origin. | have no manner of doubt that the higher orders are entirely
responsible for perpetuating the sin. It is unfortunate, too, that you
have likened the untouchability of women and others on certain
occasions with the permanent untouchability under every circums-
tance of the suppressed classes and their descendants. Nor am |
enamoured of the method you have suggested for the amelioration of
the condition of these classes.

Y ou say that the boycott of law-courts and Government schools
should be removed. | venture to doubt the soundness of the

! C. Vijayaraghavachariar (1852-1943); lawyer and Congressman; presided
over the Nagpur session of the Indian National Congress, 1920

% This had appeared in The Hindu and Voice of India. Vijayaraghavachariar had
sent a copy to Gandhiji which, however, is not available.

¥ The Cocanada session of 1923 over which Mahomed Ali presided
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proposition. Its value is at the present moment negative, but none the
less great on that account. Both these institutions have lost prestige.
What is wanted is removal of the slightest trace of bitterness against
those who do not comply with the boycott, that is, lawyers who still
practise law and boys who still make use of Government schools. We
shall win both over if we are not bitterly hostile, but concede to them
the right of free judgment or sympathize with them for their weak-
ness. | am convinced that, whenever we have not succeeded well or at
all, the primary reason has been our inability or unwillingness to
enforce non-violence with all itsimplications in our personal conduct.

I do not wish to say anything about your suggestions as to the
position after swaraj, if only because methods that ultimately bring
about swaraj will largely decide our programme after swargj.

You seem to think that “for years to come, perhaps for a
century or for ever” we are bound to be partners with England not
from choice, but because we must. Therefore, for you evidently swaraj
without the British connection is unthinkable. In my opinion, if British
connection is a necessity of our existence, whatever the measure of
freedom we may enjoy under that connection, it cannot be described
as full swargj, for full swaragj means, in my humble opinion, our ability
at any moment to sever the connection. Partnership for me has no
meaning if one party is too weak to dissolveit. It will also follow from
your reasoning that swaraj will only have to be a grant from the
British Parliament. Y ou know my view. The very definition that | give
to swargj isthat we have to take it and, therefore, we have to grow to it.
It isan eternal condition, whether with an individual or with a nation.
Moreover, if swarg has only to be received as a grant from the British
Parliament, the whole of the argument against Council-entry, in my
humble opinion, falls to pieces.

| hope you are keeping well. I am making slow but steady
progress.
Yours sincerely,
SJT. C. VIJAYARAGHAVACHARIAR

THEARAMA
SALEM

From a photostat: S.N. 8526; also C.W. 5125

! Vijayaraghavachariar replied to this letter on March 23; vide “Letter to
C. Vijayaraghavachariar”, 28-3-1924; also vide Appendix “Letter from C.
Vijayaraghavachariar”, 23-3-1924.
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86. LETTERTO S E. STOKES

POST ANDHER],
March 19, 1924

DEAR FRIEND,

| got the registered packet' on Sunday, and yesterday being my
first Monday of silence after admission to the Sassoon Hospital, | was
able to read both the papers. The written memorandum | am sending
up as desired by you. | found both to be useful and instructive as
giving me the mentality of one of whose impartiality | am certain and
whose opinions | value. If | could but accept your premises and your
view of non-co-operation, there is not much with which | should
disagree. | entirely endorse your opinion that, if there is any Council-
entry at all, it should not be for mere obstruction. On the contrary, we
should take advantage of everything good that may be offered by the
Government measures and endeavour to do our best to correct the evil
in them. Accepting your reasoning, | would also endorse your view
that the embargo upon lawyers and law-courts should also be lifted.
But | think that, perhaps, there is a fundamental difference between us
as to the interpretation and implications of non-violent non-co-
operation and, therefore, what appeared to you to be a dismal outlook
on your coming out of prison would not have set me thinking of
other means of getting rid of the paralysis which you felt and saw had
overcome all Congress activities. | would have regarded it as a
necessary stage in the evolution of the public life of the country. It
would have been for me a rare opportunity and still rarer privilege
for redoubling my efforts and testing my faith in the programme.
Y ou have cited your own personal experiences and naturally conclu-
ded that there was something wrong about the programme in that the
work that was patiently built by you and your co-workers had been
almost undone in a moment. But there is a saying among lawyers that
hard cases make bad law. Properly applied, it is a sound truth. Para-
phrased in religious terms, it means that because, under some
exceptional circumstances, departure from religious truth may appear
to be advantageous, it furnishes no ground for losing faith in the
truth. In your own case | would have reasoned to myself: This

' This contained “memorandums which put the case for Council-entry more
completely”.
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undoing of the work must be regarded as the people’s sacrifice in
order to get the rea thing. And what is that real thing? For the
common masses to rid themselves of the fetish of power. For ages
they have been taught to look to a Government to do everything for
them, to protect them. The Government, instead of being regarded as
an instrument in their hands for their advantage, is looked up to as
something beyond and apart from them which, like a deity, whether
benignant or malignant, has got to be propitiated. Non-co-operation
as conceived by me is ceasing to co-operate with that idea of
Government and teaching the people to feel that the Government is
their creation and not they creatures of the Government. | should not
therefore wonder that many of the so-called advantages that we have
hitherto enjoyed through the instrumentality of such a Government
have to be sacrificed. If the non-co-operation was not non-violent, we
would seek, as all nations in history have sought, to beat Governments
with their own weapons, that is, force of arms. In such afight it would
be folly not to make use of the whole of the Government machinery.
People in aviolent struggle do not expect to sacrifice though they are
prepared for it and, if they have at their disposal arms superior to
those possessed by the Government, beat it down without any sacri-
fice. But in a non-violent struggle resort to arms is eschewed, and
sacrifice for the moment is a necessity of the case. In practice, too, in
our own struggle, ever since the September of 1920, we have been
sacrificing. Lawyers, school-masters, schoolboys, merchants, every
class of people who have realized the implications of non-violent non-
co-operation, have sacrificed to the measure of their ability and
understanding. | know men who have lost money because they would
not go to a court of law. | know cases in which the Government
officials have chuckled with pride and pleasure that men who before
used to gain advantages through their instrumentality were losing, but
those who lost with afull knowledge of the struggle counted their loss
asgain. It ismy firm conviction that you cannot enter the Councils at
the present moment with the present system and the administrators
with their present mentality without participating in violence of an
extremely bad type which is the basis of the Government of India.
Take again the history of the other Governments of the world. By way
of illustration | cite the Egyptian Government. They are in afair way
to attaining to what they want. They have resorted to ordinary means
hitherto adopted. The Egyptians are trained for the use of arms. It was
open to them to take part in the Councils and all administrative
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machinery because they were able and willing to vindicate their
position by force of arms. In India we have a state of things, so far as |
am aware, without a parallel in the world. The people as a mass are
neither willing nor able to take up arms. If you go to the Councils and
are defeated in your purpose by the Government, you must be
prepared for raising a rebellion. It cannot be successfully raised in
India. Nor are the present Councillors men who can give that training
to the people. My endeavour was and is to find a substitute for
ordinary rebellion, and that is civil disobedience. The Councils are no
training-ground even for the Councillors for civil disobedience. They
believe in the “tooth for tooth” law. The sophistry, evasion and even
fraud of the Government benches are returned in [their] coin. Their
manifest purpose is to embarrass the Government. Their appeal is to
fear. The non-co-operator’s manifest purpose is hever to embarrass,
and his appeal must always be to the heart, therefore, to love and trust.

Y ou evidently seem to think that mystical and religious non-co-
operation can run side by side with the purely politica non-co-
operation of the Councils. | hold that the two are mutually destructive,
and my faith in religious non-co-operation is so immutable that, if |
find that it would not answer the needs of India and that the masses
would not respond to it, | should be content to be alone and rely upon
its ultimate invincibility to convert even the masses. Indeed, | see no
escape for this world except through the acceptance of non-violence
as the predominant and ordinary rule of life. The present society is
ultimately based upon force. That is violence. My endeavour is no less
than to get ride of this worship of force, and my conviction is that, if
any country is ready, for assimilating the doctrine in its entirety in a
large and workable measure, it is India. And having that conviction, |
have no other remedy for the needs of our country.

| think | have already said more than | wished to. It is possible
to amplify what | have said, but | have no doubt that you will yourself
dot the i’s and cross the t’s. | am almost impatient to express my
opinion upon the Council-entry and kindred metters, the more so
after reading your memorandum, but | am under promise to Matilalji,
Hakimji and other friends not to give public expression to my views
till 1 have met them again and discussed the whole thing. When | am
free to say all that | have in view on this question and If you have time
to spare from your writings, you will see the development of the
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outline | have sketched above.*
With love,
Yours sincerely,
S.E. STOKES, ESQ.
KOTGARH
SIMLA HILLS

From a photostat: S.N. 8527

87. STATEMENT ON OPIUM POLICY

Mr. C. F. Andrews has shown me a paragraph in his writings in
Young India regarding the opium policy of the Government of India
In that paragraph he quotes Mr. Campbell, the Government represen-
tative at the Geneva Conference held in May 1923.? Mr. Campbell is
reported to have stated that “from the beginning India had handled
the opium question with perfect honesty of purpose, and not even its
most ardent opponents including Mr. Gandhi had ever made any
reproach in that respect”. The statement Mr. Andrews has shown me
was written whilst | was a prisoner in the Y eravda Jail. Mr. Andrews
tells me that, knowing my views in the matter of opium, he did not
hesitate to contradict Mr. Campbell’ s charge against me, but in view
of the importance of the matter, he wants me to state my position
clearly regarding the opium policy of the Government of India. | do
so gladly. | confess that my study of the opium question is very
cursory, but the campaign against drink, that was taken up in 1921
with such great enthusiasm and even fierceness, was a campaign not
merely against the drink curse but against all intoxicating drugs. It is
true that opium was not specifically mentioned, nor were opium dens
picketed, except perhaps in Assam; but those who know anything of
the history of the anti-drink campaign, know that sustained agitation

! To this Stokes sent a lengthy rejoinder on March 25, “trying to show that,
to me, it is not the actual form of the expression of our non-co-operation which would
determine whether it is non-violent or not; but the spirit in which the people learn to
carry it out. . . In whatever | do not agree with you, | believe you will be patient with
me, and | trust that you know how profoundly | am convinced of the greatness of the
work you have to do. . . ” S.N. 8581. Gandhiji’s reply to this, if any, is not available.

> The Indian delegate at the Conference opposed the setting up of a board of
inquiry by the League of Nations which would investigate and report on the quantity
of opium required for strictly medicinal purposes.
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was led against all manner of intoxicants not excluding even tea
During my travels in Assam, Mr. Phookan, the Assam non-co-
operation leader, told me that the campaign had come to the Assamese
as a blessing, because more than any other part of India Assam had a
very large number of its population addicted to opium in a variety of
ways. The campaign, however, Mr. Phookan said, had brought about a
wholesale reform, and thousands had vowed never to touch opium. |
should have thought that the severe condemnation that | have
repeatedly expressed of the liquor policy of the Government would
include condemnation of the whole of its policy regarding intoxi-
cating drinks and drugs and that no separate condemnation was
needed regarding opium, ganja, etc. If there was no ruinous and
growing expenditure on an army kept not for the sake of preventing
encroachments from without, but for suppressing Indian discontent
due to the exploitation of Indiafor the sake of Great Britain, there
would be no revenue needed from immoral sources. In saying that
India (meaning the Government of India) has handled the opium
guestion with perfect honesty of purpose, Mr. Campbell evidently
forgets that, in the interest of revenue, opium was imposed upon China
by force of arms.
Young India, 20-3-1924

88. LETTERTO R. N. MANDLIK

POST ANDHER),
March 20, 1924
DEAR MR. MANDLIK,

| have your letter.*
| have not seen the Nava Kal. | must not therefore express any
opinion whatsoever. | have too great regard for Mr. Khadilkar to
venture any opinion on what he might have written without knowing it
and without seeing him personally about it, if | was not satisfied with
it. You will therefore please excuse me for not giving any opinion on

' On March 19, Mandlik had reported Khadilkar as suggesting in Nava Kal that
if the Viceroy issued the Finance Bill, which had been rejected by the Assembly,
Motilal Nehru and other Swarajist leaders should be ready for a non-co-operation
movement under the leadership of Gandhiji, by March end. He asked Gandhiji if such
really was the case, whether he approved of the suggestion and believed such a
campaign would be successful.
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the question raised by you at the present moment. Will you please
send me a marked copy of the Nava Kal referred to by you.*

Yours sincerely,
R. N. MANDLIK, ESQ,
“LOKAMANYA" OFFICE
207, RASTIBAI BUILDING, GIRGAUM
BOMBAY, NO. 4
From a photostat: S. N. 8544: also C. W. 5129
89. LETTER TO MANGAL SINGH
POST ANDHERI,

March 20, 1924

DEAR SARDAR MANGAL SINGH,
| was delighted to receive your |etter.

| hope my telegram?of congratulations was duly received. | have
hitherto refrained from saying anything publicly because | do not
know what our friends there would wish me to do in the matter, and
on receipt of your letter, | was inclined to make use of it in order to
enable me to make appropriate reference to the splendid behaviour of
the Jatha.® But doubting whether you would approve of such a step, |
have framed an independent message* of which | enclose a copy
herewith. Please keep me informed of further developments.

Please remember me to the other friends.
Yours sincerely,

SARDAR MANGAL SINGH
“AKALI-TE-PARDES”
AMRITSAR

From a photostat: S.N. 8541; also C.W. 5127

' A copy of the paper appears to have been sent to Gandhiji. Vide “Letter to
R. N. Mandlik”, 28-3-1924.

% Vide “Telegram to Shukla’, on or after 16-3-1924.

® The reference is to the second Shahidi Jatha of the Akalis which reached
Gangsar Gurdwara, near Jaiton, towards the middle of March and peacefully allowed
itself to be arrested.

* Not available
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90. LETTERTO RAJBAHADUR

POST ANDHER),
March 20, 1924
DEAR YOUNG FRIEND,
| have your letter.

It was certainly naughty of you not to obey your father when he
asked you to do a thing which was in itself pure and certainly not
impure, even if your conscience would not allow you to call it pure.
Bur after your admission that it was a mistake, father awarded punish-
ment out of all proportion to the measure of your disobedience. When
a parent denies himself something for the misdeeds of a child, itisa
kind of punishment. You have not done me wrong, and there is
nothing for me to pardon. Still, in order to induce father to relent and
to recall his vow, you have a thousand pardons from me. Show this
letter to him and let me know that he has commenced to take food
offered or touched by you.

SJT. RAJBAHADUR
CLASSVIII, SECTION B

SANATAN DHARMA HIGH SCHOOL

ETAWAHCITY
From a photostat S.N. 8546; also C.W. 5131

91. LETTERTOK. G. REKHADE
POST ANDHER),
March 20, 1924
DEAR MR. REKHADE,
| have your letter of the 18th instant.*
| would suggest that you see Vinoba who is conducting the
Satyagraha Ashram in Wardha. Y ou would have seen him already. |
know of no one more fitted to help you in the direction you wish than
Vinoba. He is adisciplinarian, and discipline may be very hard, but |
know that it is necessary and beneficial.

With reference to the pecuniary difficulties you are labouring
! Thisletter is not available.
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under, my sympathies are with you, but they are of little value. | am
helpless to guide you.

Yours sincerely,
K. G. REKHADE, ESQ.
PLEADER
WARDHA

From a photostat: S.N. 8547; also C.W. 5128

92. LETTERTO SHERIF DEOJI KANJI

JUHU,
March 20, 1924

DEAR SHERIF DEOJI KANJ,
Y ou have read to me an extract from an article in the Kesari to
the effect that, with reference to the proposed Madrassa near Poona,
you went to the Government in disregard of the fact that | was
mediating between the Madrassa Trustees and the Hindus concerned
in the matter. | was grieved to note that reference, and | have no hesi-
tation in saying that so far as | am aware, you have done nothing to
injure the mediation and certainly you have not gone to the
Government in disregard of such mediation. | remember too that, in
the course of one of our conversations, | told you that my ability for
effective intervention was very slender, and that, if for nothing else, for
reasons of health | could not possibly become an arbitrator. All | am
doing and should still, if it was possible, like to do is to offer friendly
offices. | told you therefore that you should not stop any methods
that were open to you for conserving the interests of the Trust in the
hope that | should ultimately be able to effect afinal settlement. | told
you, too, that I was hampered in my negotiation for a settlement
because of the fact that | did not know the parties concerned well
enough to be able to say anything with confidence. You are at liberty
to make any use you like of this letter.
Yours sincerely,
M. K. GANDHI
SHERIF DEOJ KANJI, ESQ.

From a photostat: S.N. 8548
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93. LETTERTO N. S PHADKE

POST ANDHER],
March 20, 1924
MY DEAR MR. PHADKE,
| haveyour letter.

The article on Continence* referred to by you was written by me
not because | believed that India was over-populated, but because |
believed that self-restrain was good in every case and much more so at
atime when we were ourselves in a state of davery. | am totaly
opposed to artificial means of controlling the birth-rate, and it is not
possible for me to congratulate you or your co-workers on having
brought into being a League whose activities, if successful, can only
do great moral injury to the people. | wish | could convince you and
your co-workers to disband the League and devote your energy to a
better purpose. You will please pardon me for giving my opinion in
such a decisive manner. | have not hesitated to do so because | know
something of such activitiesin England and France.

Yours sincerely,
N. S. PHADKE, ESqg.

HON. SECRETARY
BOMBAY BIRTH-CONTROL LEAGUE

GIRGAUM
BOMBAY

From a photostat: S.N. 8538; also C.W. 5130

94. LETTER TO ABBAS TYABJI

POST ANDHER,
March 20, 1924
DEAR FRIEND,

| hope you have received my letter written in reply to yours.” |
have now another letter from you more difficult to deal with than the

! Presumably, the reference is to the article “In Confidence” published in
Young India, 13-10-1920.
? Vide “Letter to Abbas Tyabji”, 15-3-1924.
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first because the second is a business | etter.*

| must not make any engagements in anticipation of the
completion of my convalescence. Much will depend upon how | feel
then and what the position is in the country. At the end of the conval-
escence, | must be totally untrammelled with any previous engage-
ments, and thisin the interest of the common cause. Do you not
agree? Nor must | seek to influence Sir Prabhashanker Pattani.? That
would be going out of my beat and, after all, what is the worth of a
Parishad for the holding of which the permission is obtained through
the intervention of a stranger, and for purposes of the Parishad | must
be considered a stranger. The proposition that no permission is
required from the head of a State for holding conferencesis really
untenable. That ordinarily conferences are held without permission
does not mean that the right of interference is waived by the head of
the State concerned or that an absolute right of holding a conference
accrues to the conveners. | would therefore strongly advise the
conveners of the proposed conference that they should formally and
courteously ask for permission. If it is refused, it may be a proper
ground for leading an agitation against such decision. Why would you
not write to Sir Prabhashanker? He knows you well enough to secure a
favourable reply.

| hope that you will be successful in your begging mission.

| quite agree that Kathiawar educational institutions should
receive aid from the Provincial Committee wherever, in its opinion,
such aid is necessary.

Your are quite right in stopping Devchandbhai from coming to
me. The message | sent to him was that he would be welcome when he
came, and if he does come, | shall enlarge upon the reasons for not
pressing upon me the invitation for Presidentship.

Yours sincerely,

M. K. GANDHI
From a photostat: S.N. 9596

! Thislargely dealt with collection of donations from the public for a political
conference.

* Diwan of Bhavnagar. Abbas Tyabji had suggested that Gandhiji should write
to Pattani for securing permission to hold the Conference at Bhavnagar.
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95. INTERVIEWTO “ THE TIMES OF INDIA”

JUHU,
March 20, 1924

In answer to questions, Mr. Gandhi very willingly gave a few details of his
daily routine. He gets up at four o' clock, a practice which he invariably follows.
After family prayers in which the household join, he reads religious literature for a
time and then goes off again in a short-sleep. At six he has his breakfast of milkO
Mr. Gandhi confessed with atwinkle in his eye that he was following scrupulously
Colonel Maddock’s instructions regarding foodl] and afterwards still following his
old medical advisers advice, he takes awalk on the verandah and treats his wound to a
sun-bath. Immediately after this, he attends to his correspondence, both English and
Guijarati. In order to deal with the former he has been provided with shorthand typists
who greatly facilitate his work. Histime until midday is occupied by correspondence,
the study of political problems and the seeing of important political and other friends
by appointment. Early in the afternoon he has his bath and at four o’ clock is ready to
see the very large number of visitors who call on him.

In the evening, about six, Mr. Andrews takes him for a walk along the sea-
shore, and this walk has now been prolonged to about forty minutes. The day’s work
is over by about eight, at which hour Mr. Gandhi usually retires for the night. He
explained:

Later on, | hope to take up spinning, once | am able to sit up
without fatigue.

“What do you think of new Labour Government?’ was one of the first political
questions which our representative put to Mr. Gandhi. Mr. Gandhi evidently did not
think much of it.

It has a precarious existence. It has to depend on the good-will
of the other parties, and if it isn't to break in pieces, it has to conciliate
its very exacting constituents and follow out its special domestic
programme. | have no doubt that in trying to acquire the support of
the magjority of the House in pushing through its domestic
programme, it will not hesitate to sacrifice its principles regarding
Imperial policy affecting India, or Indians in South Africa and Kenya.
In fact, | should not be surprised, seeing it is so weak, if the Labour
Government does worse even than its predecessors so far as Indian
policy is concerned.

Mr. Gandhi concluded by admitting that he was not much perturbed over the
Labour Government, because India had to rely upon her own strength and resources.
When she becomes irresistible, | have no manner of doubt that
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any Government, whether Labour, Conservative or Liberal, will fall in
with India’s demands.

On the subject of Council-entry and recent events in the Central Provinces and
in the Assembly, Mr. Gandhi frankly confessed he could say nothing. The Swarajist
leaders are coming down from Delhi to see him at the end of the month, and he cannot
give any opinion on their actions until he has discussed the whole position with
them. After having done this, he will be in a position to formulate his policy.

Interrogated regarding the Colonies Committee, which has just sailed in
connection with the Kenya question, Mr. Gandhi thought that the Committee could do
agreat deal if it was not fettered by too many restrictions. He added:

Whether the personality of the Committee is strong enough to
assert itself is very difficult to say. Speaking apart from my views as a
non-co-operator, | cannot help noticing the absence of Mr. Sastri, Sir
Tej Bahadur Sapru and Mr. Andrews from the Committee. They are
the men who had studied the question and know it in all its bearing,
while Mr. Andrews is an expert. | cannot help saying that these
omissions are glaring and inspire me with distrust as to the Com-
mittee’ s findings.

Mr. Gandhi gave an interesting explanation of the South African Govern-
ment’ s decision to omit the Cape Province from the operation of the Class Areas Bill.
He said:

Thisis merely an instance of selfishness on the part, principally,
of the Dutch population. Nearly all the house-work in the Cape is
done by Malay women, and if the Segregation Act came into force,
these Malay women would be affected by it. This would mean
depriving a magjor part of the white population of its domestic help,
which would give no end of inconvenience. Consequently, as the
Indian population of the Cape is small] about 10,000 in ald the
Cape people decided that they are not worth worrying about as far as
segregation is concerned in view of the difficulties which segregation
would bring in itstrain.

In the course of the conversation, Mr. Gandhi paid a tribute to Col. Maddock[
“Who was more than my doctor; heismy friend” O and to Mr. Andrewsl or “Charlie
Bhai” as heisfamiliarly known who is his right-hand man at Juhu and who writes
articles incessantly from morning till night.

“1 hope when India gets swaraj, you will not pack us poor but honest European
journalists back home,” laughingly remarked our representative. Gandhiji replied
with a bright smile as he shook hands:

Nothing is farther from my mind.

The Times of India, 21-3-1924
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96. LETTERTOD. V. GOKHALE

POST ANDHER],
March 21, 1924

DEAR MR. GOKHALE,

Mr. Sherif Deoji Kanji showed me an extract from the Kesari in
which heis charged with having gone to Government in disregard of
my mediation. | was greived to see the extract. | have given him a
note' which probably he would publish and you would see. | observe,
too that a proper campaign has been started in the Press in connection
with the matter. | wonder if all this was necessary. Is al hope of
arbitration gone? Mr. Sherif Deoji Kanji told me that he and his co-
trustees were ready to arbitrate. If itisat all within your power, |
would like you to stop this agitation and induce the parties to consent
to arbitration. | thought that you were waiting for Mr. Kelkar’s return.
| presume he will be back a the end of the month. | plead for
patience.

Yours sincerely,
D. V. GOKHALE, ESQ.

EDITOR, “THEMAHRATTA”
POONA

From a photostat: S.N. 8553; also C.W. 5134

97. LETTER TO SHEVAKRAM KARAMCHAND

POST ANDHERI,
March 21, 1924

DEAR MR. SHEVAKRAM,

| have your letter.*

In my opinion, God’s name and God’ s work go hand in hand.
There is no question of preference because the two are indivisible. A
parrot-like repetition of the name is worse than useless, and service or
action without the consciousness that it is done in God’s name and for
God’s sake is also valueless, and if we sometimes pass our time in

! Shevakram, in his letter of March 17, had stated that according to Guru Nanak
two things were essential for Mukti, namely, prayer and a guru. He wanted to know

what views Gandhiji had on the matter and also whether he had any guru.
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merely repeating the name of the deity as we have to, it issimply a
course of preparation for self-dedication, that is, service for the sake
of and in the name of God, and when we are thoroughly attuned,
continued service in that spirit isitself equal to the repetition of the
name of the deity. In the vast majority of cases, however, the setting
apart a part of our time for prayer is avital necessity. So far as| am
aware, all scriptures and, certainly, the Indian scriptures, hold a guru to
be absolutely indispensable, but if we cannot get areal guru, a sham
substitute is not only useless but injurious. That is one of the reasons
why | suppose the tenth guru established the Granth Sahib as the last
Guru.

| have no spiritual guru, but believing in the institution, | have
been in search of one for the last thirty years. The very search is the
greatest consolation to me.

Yours sincerely,
SJT. SHEVAKRAM KARAMCHAND
GURU SANGAT
HIRABAD
HYDERABAD (SIND)
From a copy: S.N. 8554; also C.W. 5135
98. LETTERTO M. REINER
POST ANDHERI,

March 21, 1924
DEAR MR. REINER,
| have your letter of the 20th instant.*
| shall be pleased to see you on 26th instant at 5 p.m.
Yours sincerely,
M. REINER, ESQ.
ROOM 23, GRAND HOTEL
BALLARD ESTATE
BOMBAY
From a photostat: S.N. 8551; also C.W. 5133

! Reiner had introduced himself as a visitor from Australia much interested in
Gandhiji’s work and personality, and wanting to have a clear impression of his
doctrines of which he had heard a great deal.
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99. LETTERTO GEORGE JOSEPH

POST ANDHER],
March 21, 1924

MY DEAR JOSEPH,

| read your letter to Devdas. | hope that Mrs. Joseph is much
better. | write this, however, to tell you that | hope to take charge of
the editing of Young India from next month.* I am doing so not
without some hesitation, but | feel | may no longer shirk the duty. |
would like to know what your plans would be in the near future. |
need hardly tell you that the assurance | gave you in Poona stands. If
you have leisure for it, | would like you to give me a weekly article
well thought out, packed with facts and written in your best style. It
must not, therefore, be hurriedly written, but you should put yourself
to pains for collecting information. Nothing would please me better
than to have figures regarding the khaddar work, untouchability,
national education, etc., in your district. You need not send such an
article to the Sabarmati address, but send it directly to me.

Yours sincerely,
SJT. GEORGE JOSEPH
CHENGANUR (TRAVANCORE)
From a photostat: S.N. 8552; also C.W. 5136
100. LETTER TO LAJPAT RAI
POST ANDHER),

March 21, 1924

DEAR LALAJI,

Andrews has shown me your letter to him. | have seen also
Gourishanker Misra's letter to you. As you are due here on the 27th
instant, | need not say anything at the present moment. When we meet,
we shall discuss the special case of Gourishanker Misra and the cases
of lawyers similarly placed. So far as | am concerned, | have no doubt
whatsoever about the propriety of your going to Switzerland for
regaining health and strength. What is the use of your remaining here
with a lingering sickness and unable to make collections or to do

! Gandhiji resumed editorship with the issue of April 3, 1924.
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other strenuous work for which you are specialy fitted? Your are
going not for enjoyment but for the purpose, on your return, of doing
work in your own old effective manner. Y ou would be running away
from trouble if you projected a trip round the world or went like a
millionaire to see exhibitions and shows. | wish, therefore, that you
would get rid of the mood of dejection and take your trip to
Switzerland as part of national service.

Yours sincerely,

LALA LAJPAT RAI
LAHORE

From a photostat: S.N. 8555; also C.W. 5137

101. LETTER TO C. RAJAGOPALACHARI

POST ANDHERI,
March 21, 1924

MY DEAR RAJAGOPALACHARI,

| hope you are still putting on weight, avoiding fever and
making steady progress.

From next month, I am taking charge of Young India and
Navajivan. | feel | may no longer postpone, but | do not think | shall
be able myself to provide all the matter as | practically used to. Please,
therefore, regard yourself as bound to send something every week.
You are specializing in khaddar. Therefore, | do not mind your
articles being always on that subject, but treat it from week to week in
anew way, giving new facts. But, of course, | do not want you to be
tied down to that alone and you may write on any other subject which
you think will be of interest to the readers. | thought that | would be
able by this time to write down my views on Council-entry and the
Hindu-Muslim problem, but | am sorry | have not been able to do so
as yet. Please do not blame me if you do find these views expressed in
the columns of Young India. | wish you were here during the first
month so that you may see everything previous to its being published,
but we must do the best in the circumstances facing us. After all, itis
not of much moment if | cannot avoid mistakes. | know | have the
courage and wisdom to admit and correct them. There is the other
side no doubt. People may be misled and it may be too late to set
them right. Is not that also a part of the training?
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Someone must have told you that Golikere' is already with me
and his assistance is a great thing. He is to help me for the next three
months at the most. Meanwhile Kristodas and Pearilal® will try to pick
up enough shorthand writing for my purpose. In any case the
pressure after | go to Sabarmati or after | begin to travel will not be so
great. The bulk of the steady writing | want to finish during conval-
escence.

Yours sincerely,

SJT. C. RAJAGOPALACHARI
THE EXTENSION
SALEM

From a photostat: S.N. 8556; also C.W. 5132

102. INTERVIEW TO “ LIVERPOOL POST” AND

“ MERCURY”
[March 21, 1924]

Today | talked for over an hour with Gandhi. Somewhere outside the verandah
hovered his son, and C. F. Andrews, an Englishman who espoused the cause of the
African Indian and whose long beard and native garments and bare feet proclaimed one
voluntarily quitting his own caste. Despite the countless visits which the Swarajist
inflict upon Gandhi, | gained the impression that his gentle spirit is chastened
through long imprisonment and illness. Gandhi admitted repeatedly the breakdown
of that strange creed of his by which he hoped to make India a nation such as this
materialistic world never saw] simple and non-violent, maintaining independence
amidst opportunist Asia by the quality which he called “soul-force”.

Now that they in the Legislative Assembly have voted down the Govern-
ment’s demand for money grants, they want Gandhi’s consent to a campaign of civil
disobedience throughout India which means an agitation against the payment of all
taxes. It is known that Gandhi originally opposed participation in these Government
Assemblies and cast no favorable eye on the Swarajist game of obstruction. But the
Swaragjist success has taken the country by storm, and the leader who made the swaraj
movement before other politicians were heard of must bow to the reputation formed
while he was in prison.

Civil disobedience is aways an advisable weapon when
governments are not based on the will of the people, but it is

! Gandhiji’s stenographer
2 pyarelal Nayyar, Gandhiji’s secretary, since 1920, and biographer
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practicable only when the masses are imbued with a spirit of non-
violence.

Gandhi remarked:

Indiais now ready for swaraj if granted, but Indiais unable to
seize swargj, either by force, which | oppose, or by disciplined non-
violence.

Gandhi then defined swargj:

It means Parliamentary Government, but | hope not in the sense
of Western nations where selfish interest reigns supreme. It means also
the return to India’' s ancient life. Despite years of sneering, | till
believe that the home spinning-wheel can oust the British factory. If
so, how can British capital, which is the sole reason for British
dominion, expect compensation? Myself, | do not believe in atariff
wall against foreign imports.

Concerning the famous triple boycott against British courts, schools and
Councils, Gandhi was pessimistic. He said he would now organize panchayats or
courts of arbitration, resembling Sinn Fein tribunals, by which suits would be settled
outside the King’s writ. Concerning the schools, Gandhi hoped only to make the
non-Government institutions more attractive. Asked what advantages the curriculum
of swaraj schools had over Government schools, Gandhi said they teach freedom of
thought, whereas the British schools inculcate only fixed rules which fit the natives
for service under the present regime. Gandhi declared that such schools as on the
Western plan make of the natives automatons. He added that complete boycott of
British goods would drive the British from India; but he admitted that the time was not
yet ripe.

Asked to state what hopes he had of early attainment of swaraj, Gandhi
answered only in the negative. From experience in England, when he was a student. . .
he declared that Labour would think first of British constituencies, last of all, [of]
India. But on hopes from the present Swarajist obstruction in the Assembly, Gandhi
was ominously silent. He thought the British, whom he did not regard as a bad
people, would eventually hit upon an honourable agreement, and declared that he had
good reason for this hope.

Passing to the matter of the army, he announced that he would reduce thisto a
fourth of its present establishment, and would change the whole railway system,
which he thought followed too closely upon strategic lines.

“You have no enemiesto fear?” Gandhi was asked. He replied:

We fear the Afghans. Once the Hindu-Muslim unity [ig]
established, the Amir of Afghanistan would not attack fellow-Muslims.
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If Russia attacks us, we expect the militaristic nations of Europe to
come to our aid to prevent Russia becoming too strong, and we should
welcome help. What do | think of the present rulers of Russia? | take
them at their face value. What builds on force ends by force.

Do the Indian masses understand your preachings on non-violence when at the
same time they are told the British have done wrong?’ | asked him. Gandhi replied:

Yes, but nowhere outside India would this be possible. You
Westerners are unable to understand this, but it is the spirit of the
Indian people.

Asked if his attitude was unchanged regarding the “evils’ of Western
civilization, Gandhi replied that he would not abolish the railways since they were
already established; he approved of modern farm implements since Indian agricul-
turists needed help. Concerning the British factories, he hoped the spinning-wheel
would prove their doom.

| asked Gandhi concerning Kemal Pasha’s deposition of the Khalif. Gandhi
replied that it did not effect Hindu-Muslim unity which, however, he confessed was
not so strong as formerly. On this unity all resistance to the British depended.

The King of the Hedjaz won’t do. All Islam feels he is a British
representative.

Gandhi declared that Indiais suffering a grave disadvantage as the natives have
been “emasculated” as soldiers since the British came to India

What | want to end is the Indian’s mortal fear of the white skin
which was more prevalent when | was a boy than now.

The Hindu, 14-4-1924

103. ADDRESSTO STUDENTSAND TEACHERS BOMBAY*

[March 21, 1924]

| need not say that | am pleased to see you all today. | am
thankful to you for the little presents offered to me by you. Two at
least of your presents convey a special meaning to me at present. The
mat for carding and the slivers prepared by you remind me that |
must immediately take up the work of spinning and carding. | assure
you that when | am engaged in doing that work, | feel swaraj appro-
aching nearer and nearer. Therefore, | request you all to pray for my

! A party of students and teachers of the Bombay Rashtriya Shala met Gandhiji
at Juhu. They presented him with an address and some articles of handicraft prepared
by them.
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complete and immediate recovery in order that | may be able to take
up that work as early as possible. | desire that you also should devote
yourselves to the spinning-wheel and | am sure you will also feel that
it brings Swaraj nearer and nearer. If we concentrate upon the cons-
tructive programme, we are sure to get all we want. Y ou must have
heard the beautiful song of Poet Narasinh Mehta sung by Lalitji. |
wish you understand the meaning of such religious songs, and |
appeal to you that you will make all effortsto transate the noble
ideals of such poems into your actions. But | warn you that even for
teachersit is a very difficult thing to act according to the ideals
inculcated in these beautiful songs.

| remember that when | first visited your school, | told you that
you had to learn much in the art of music. Today | again have heard
some of the students singing, but | am sorry to remark that you have
not as yet made sufficient progress to earn my certificate. Still,
however, 1 do hope that when | next visit your school after my
complete recovery, you will make yourself fit for passingl] though
complete mastery over that art may not be possible for you even then.

The Hindu, 26-3-1924

104. MESSAGE TO SOUTH AFRICAN EUROPEANS

[Before March 22, 1924]*
If you continue to oppress us, we shall leave your Empire and, if
we do, where will your Empire be then?
The Hindu, 26-3-1924

105. LETTER TO DWIJENDRANATH TAGORE

ANDHERI,
March 22, 1924
DEAR BORODADA,

It was good of you to send me two copies of your essays on the
Bhagavad Gita. | note with gratitude your affectionate inscription in
one copy. | shall prize it and endeavour at the earliest opportunity to
understand your interpretation of the message of the Gita.

Mr. Andrews always gives me your kind messages. His presence

! Sarojini Naidu quoted this in the course of a speech at a gathering at Cape
Town on March 22.
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isagreat comfort to me. It was so good of you to have let him come
to me.

With much respect,

M. K. GANDHI
From a photostat: S.N. 8564

106. LETTERTO R. PIGGOTT AND A. M. WARD

POST ANDHERI
March 22, 1924
DEAR MISSES PIGGOTT AND WARD,
| have your letter of the 16th instant.

| am ashamed to say that | have entirely forgotten the interview
mentioned by you. However, | am sending your letter to afriend in
Sindh who, if he can see hisway, | am sure, will assist you. You will
please excuse meif | have not addressed you correctly. | showed your
letter to Mr. Andrews. He distinctly remembers having met you, but
cannot give me any information about you.

Yours sincerely,

MISSR. PIGGOTT AND MISSA. M. WARD
HYDERABAD (SINDH)

From a photostat: S.N. 8562; also C.W. 5140

107. LETTER TO JAIRAMDAS DOULATRAM

POST ANDHER],
March 22, 1924
MY DEAR JAIRAMDAS,

| enclose herewith a letter received from Sindh. Probably you
know the ladies. Asyou will note, they ask me to bring their activity to
the notice of those who have much to give. | do not put you under
that category, but | thought | should pass the letter on to you so that,
if it is adeserving activity, at least it does not remain without any
notice by us. You will, therefore, please write to me and let me know
what exactly this activity is and what you think of it. | do not want you
to go out of your way to make inquiries. There is no hurry about the
matter. | know that every moment of true workers is too precious to

be spent in anything but the task immediately before them.
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Lalaji is coming to Andheri on the 27th instant.

| am sorry | have not yet been able to frame the draft statement
regarding Council-entry and Hindu-Muslim unity. | am afraid,
therefore, that you will not see it before publication as | had hoped
you would, but you will seeit only after it is published.
Yours sincerely,
Enclosure

JAIRAMDAS DOULATRAM, ESQ.
HYDERABAD (SINDH)

From a photostat: S.N. 8560; also C.W. 5139

108. LETTER TO C. RAJAGOPALACHARI

ANDHER,
Saturday, March 22, 1924
DEAR RAJAGOPALACHARI,

This is hand-made paper. | understand it was specially got and
printed for me. | am using it for the first time today. It is now after
3.30 am. | have hardly slept during the night after 12. Y ou are one of
the reasons. | had a chat with your son last night. Incidentally, | asked
him whether he wrote to you and you to him in English or Tamil.
When he told me it was English, the information cut me to pieces. We
had then a discourse upon the possibilities of Tamil. Young Rama-
swamy thought that it was not capable of being used for high and
scientific thought. My brain then began to work and it is still working.
You are my greatest hope. Why this, as it seemsto me, grave defect? If
the salt loses its savour, etc. What are the Tamil masses to do, if her
best sons neglect her? What is the future before poor Ramaswamy as a
worker among the masses? Do enlighten me or promise henceforth to
write to the young man in your best Tamil. It was good of the Hindu
people to offer to lend services of the shorthand-writer.

With deepest love,

From a photostat: S.N. 8566
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109. LETTERTO MRS EMMA HARKER

POST ANDHER),
March 22, 1924
DEAR MRS. HARKER,
| have your letter.* The sad note about it grieves me. The
progress continues. Could you come on Tuesday next at 5 p.m.?

Yours sincerely,
MRS. E. HARKER
C 3, DATUBHOY MANSIONS
MAYOROAD
BOMBAY

From a photostat: S.N. 8563; also C.W. 5138
110. LETTER TO ROMAIN ROLLAND?
ANDHERI,

March 22, 1924
DEAR FRIEND,

| appreciate your loving card. What does it matter that you have
in places made mistakes in your essay? The wonder to meis that you
have made so few and that you have succeeded, though living in a
different and distant atmosphere, in so truly interpreting my message.
It demonstrates once more the essential oneness of human nature

though flourishing under different skies.
With much regard, Yours sincerely,
M. K. GANDHI

! This read: “I am going through rather a critical and sad time and ask you to
pray for me. | know | shall find comfort in seeing you.” S.N. 8549.

> Romain Rolland had written to Mahadev Desai on February 24: “If | have
unconsciously committed a few mistakes in the little book that | have dedicated to
him, let Mahatma excuse meld for the sake of the great love and veneration that his
life and philosophy have inspired in me. A European may often be deceived in his
judgment about an individual or a nation of Asia. But his heart cannot be deceived,
when he finds in them the common God and universal love. As our European
Mahatmall BeethovenO sings in his ‘Ode to Joy’; let us millions of human beings
embrace each other.” S.N. 8573
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[PS]
Pray excuse the pencil hand. My hand is yet too shaky to
manage the ink-pen.

M. ROMAIN ROLLAND
From a photostat: S.N. 8565

111. STATEMENT TO PRESS

BOMBAY,
March 23, 1924

The following cablegram has been received from Cape Town
signed by Mr. Pather, General Secretary, South African Indian
Congress.

South African Indian community submits notwithstanding strongest
protests Union Government determined carrying through Class Areas Bill
violating pledges given. Bill indefensible. Foreigners, also Euro-Africans,
Malays and Natives being exempted. Bill will apply only to Indians. Euro-
Africans, Malays and Natives assembled in thousands Cape Town assured
Mrs. Sarojini Naidu of support to Indians in opposition to Bill. Indians will
never submit segregation. Inform India. Please take such action as you think
best. Mrs. Sarojini Naidu has made deep impression and won many hearts.
Mrs. Naidu deferred leaving South Africa until 30th April owing great demand
on her in interest of the cause.

Thisis startling news, almost too bad even for South Africato be
believed. | have already endeavoured to show why the Cape was to be
excluded from the operation of the measure. If the information
cabled by Reuter as to the exclusion of the Cape is correct, thereis
something wrong in the foregoing cable, or the information contained
initisapplicable to the other three Provinces only, namely, Orangia,
Transvaal and Natal. The position will be that, so far as the Cape is
concerned, the Cape Indians will till remain exempted from the
operation of the measure, whereas, in the other provinces the
meassure will apply only to Indians. There is no difficulty about
understanding the exemptions, because the idea of segregation of
Natives and Malaysin the extreme sense is new. Every European

! This was published generally in the Press. Young India reproduced it under
thetitle “The Class Areas Bill”.
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household has Natives of South Africa as domestic servants. Malays,
as | have shown in a previous communication', are negligible quantity
except in the Cape. We have, therefore, the naked truth before us that
the Bill in question is aimed merely at Indians and that it connotes not
only segregation but indirect expulsion. Mrs. Sarojini Naidu’s visit to
South Africa and her inspiring presence there will undoubtedly steel
the hearts of the Indian settlers for further effort. Her presenceis also
bringing Europeans and Indians on the same platform. Let India,
however, not be lulled into a sense of false security because of the
commanding presence of Mrs. Naidu in the midst of the sorely-tried
Indian settlers. After all, the cultured Europeans of South Africa are
gentlemen, and | have little doubt that Mrs. Naidu is receiving all the
attention that is due to her for her many and matchless gifts, but the
South African Europeans have also a fixed and determined anti-
Indian policy. General Smutsis afinished diplomat. On due occasions
he can speak honeyed words, but he knows his mind, and let there be
no mistake that unless India can make an effort adequate to the
situation, the Bill will be carried through the Union Parliament in spite
of Mrs. Naidu’s resource-fulness.

M. K. GANDHI
Young India, 27-3-1924

112. LETTERTO S A. BRELVI

POST ANDHER),
March 23, 1924
DEAR MR. BRELVI,

| thank you for your note.

That, in spite of the unanimous public opinion so emphatically
expressed demanding the removal of the ban against Mr. Horniman,
the Government should remain adamant is to me an index at once of
our weakness and the Government's studied defiance of public
opinion so strongly and unanimously expressed asin Mr. Horniman’s
case. Assuming for the sake of argument that we are in error in
demanding the removal of the ban, it is evident that the Government
will not leave us room even for making mistakes. The only use,
therefore, of our public meetings is to show Mr. Horniman that his
services are not forgotten and that, if he has not received the passport

! Vide “Anti-Indian Campaign in South Africa’, 14-2-1924
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to return, it is not for want of will on our part but for sheer want of
ability. Even that is no small use. | therefore wish your meeting every
success.!

Yours sincerely,
S. A. BRELVI, ESQ.
“BOMBAY CHRONICLE”
BOMBAY
From a photostat: S.N. 8567; also C.W. 5142
113. LETTERTO D. R. MAJLI
POST ANDHERI,

March 23, 1924

MY DEAR MAJLI,

Early in the morning m? first thought went out to you, and |
asked myself how | could help you to be yourself again. Belgaum is
to have the honour of holding the next Congress Session.’ | know you
want to take your part in the preparations. | know also that you are
one of the best of workers. All that you need do is to become
perfectly calm and get rid of excitement. | fear that you have been
thinking too much, in the jail, of our country’s troubles; but it would
not do for us merely to be thinking of the troubles. What are we? We
should leave all the cares to God. Oursis to do our level best in
lightening the burdens of India Have you ever read Tulsidas's
Ramayana? If you do not know Hindi fairly well, probably you have
not read it. The great saint wrote his Ramayana in my opinion, to
glorify Rama’s name. For me it has been atalisman. My nurse, whom
| used to love as my mother, and in whose company much more of
my time was passed in childhood than in my mother’s, used to tell me
that if | thought of evil spirits at night and dreaded them, | could ward
them off by repeating the name of Rama. Having faith in the nurse, |
followed her prescription, and whenever at night vague fears seized
hold of me, | used to recite the sacred name, and it answered the
purpose. As| grew old, the faith weakened. My mentor, the nurse, was

! This paragraph constitutes the message which was read at a meeting of the
Journalists’ Association at the Voice of India Office, Bombay, on March 25; K.
Natarajan, editor of The Indian Social Reformer, presided.

% Thiswas held in December 1924 under Gandhiji’ s presidentship.

$ Shankerlal Banker, who was his co-prisoner in Y eravda
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dead. | ceased to take the name of Rama, and my fears revived. In the
jail | read the Ramayana with greater attention and still greater
devation than ever before, and whenever | felt lonely or felt the pride
in merising and telling me that | could do something for India, to
give me due humility and to make me experience the presence of the
Almighty, and thus to remove my loneliness, | used calmly to recite
the name Rama with all the halo that Tulsidas has surrounded it with. |
cannot put in words the indescribable peace that then came on me. As
you know, Mr. Banker* was torn away from me for some time. When
he rejoined me, he related his own experiences to me. He used to
experience all kinds of dreadful things after the cell-door was cruelly
locked upon him. But he related to me graphically how the recitation
of the name calmed him and gave him strength also to shed all those
unbecoming fears. I, therefore, send you the much-tried prescription.
Think, whenever you feel you are excited, of Rama and the peace-
giving nature of the recitation. Continue to recite the name slowly,
forgetting everything, and considering yourself as one of the tiniest
atoms in the mighty universe, and God willing the excitement will
subside, and you will experience a blissful peace. The sages of old
knew from experience what they were saying when they prescribed
for troubled souls Ramanama, Dwadash Mantra? and such other
things. The more | think of them, the more true all those mantras
appear to me today. | wish you could have faith enough to repeat
Ramanama or such mantra which